Relative Habitat Use, Occupancy, and Species Richness of Bats

Across the Gradient of Urbanization in an Arid Region

by

Jessica M. Dwyer

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

Approved November 2021 by the Graduate Supervisory Committee:

Jesse S. Lewis, Chair Marianne S. Moore Steven E. Saul

ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY

December 2021

## ABSTRACT

Urbanization is a primary driver of ecological change and occurs across a gradient from low- to high- density development. Wildlife species can exhibit different responses to urbanization, with some species being more sensitive than others. Further, wildlife communities can exhibit varying patterns of species richness across the gradient of urbanization, where species richness can either decrease linearly or peak at intermediate levels of urbanization, consistent with the intermediate disturbance hypothesis (IDH). For chapter one, the objective was to evaluate the response of bats to urbanization across seasons. It was predicted that bat species would exhibit different responses to urbanization and that bats would increase use of urbanized areas in the summer season, where food and water resources were assumed to be greater. For chapter two, the objective was to evaluate species richness of bats across the gradient of urbanization in the summer season. Species richness of bats was predicted to either decrease linearly or peak at moderate levels of urban intensity. To test these hypotheses, 50 sites across the gradient of urbanization were sampled during four seasons using stationary acoustic bat monitors. Fourteen bat species were identified during 1000 nightly occasions. Consistent with chapter one predictions, bat species exhibited different responses to urbanization, with most bats being sensitive to urbanization. Counter to predictions, most bats did not appear to shift their response to urbanization across seasons. However, two bats (i.e., big brown bat and Yuma myotis) exhibited higher use of urbanized areas in the summer compared to other seasons. Consistent with chapter two predictions, species richness of bats decreased with increasing urban intensity. Results from this study demonstrate that

most bats in the community were sensitive to urbanization, which is potentially related to species traits and has important conservation implications. First, it is likely important to maintain high-quality undeveloped habitat with low anthropogenic disturbance in wildland areas for species that are sensitive to urbanization and to maximize species richness. In addition, for bats that are tolerant of urbanization and to increase species richness in urbanized areas, it is likely important to preserve resources in urbanized areas and increase landscape connectivity.

# DEDICATION

To Leo and Lucy.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Jesse Lewis for his encouragement and expertise throughout the duration of this research project. I also appreciate the invaluable input provided by my other committee members: Dr. Marianne Moore and Dr. Steven Saul. A special thanks to Sally Wittlinger, Jeffery Haight, and Joe Dwyer for their assistance in the field, Angie McIntire, Dr. Marianne Moore, and Janet Tyburec for sharing their fundamental bat expertise, and Dr. Stevan Earl for his assistance in creating a database to manage my data. I also want to express appreciation to my family and friends for their support and patience throughout this arduous journey. Lastly, I want to thank the landowners who granted us access to their properties for our research, including Maricopa County Parks and Recreation Department, City of Phoenix Parks and Recreation - Natural Resources Division, Arizona Department of Transportation, Maricopa County Flood Control District, US Forest Service, Arizona State University campuses, Salt River Project, City of Phoenix, Glendale, Peoria, Scottsdale, and Chandler, and other private property owners across the Valley. This material is based upon work funded and supported by Arizona State University and the National Science Foundation under grant number DEB-1832016, Central Arizona-Phoenix Long-Term Ecological Research Program (CAP LTER).

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
LIST OF TABLESviii
LIST OF FIGURES ix
CHAPTER
1 HABITAT USE OF BATS AND OCCUPANCY OF BATS ACROSS THE
GRADIENT OF URBANIZATION AND SEASONS 1
1. Abstract
2. Introduction 2
3. Methods
3.1 Study Area 6
3.2 Sampling Design7
3.3 Species Identification
3.4 Landscape and Environmental Variables
3.5 Statistical Analysis
4. Results
4.1 Relative Habitat Use15
4.1.1 Response to Urbanization
4.1.2 Response to Plant Productivity and Distance to Water. 17
4.2 Occupancy
4.2.1 Response to Urbanization
4.2.2 Response to Plant Productivity and Distance to Water. 18

СНАРТ	TER F	age
	4.2.3 Response to Temperature and Lunar Illumination	19
	5. Discussion	. 20
2	SPECIES RICHNESS OF BATS DECLINES ACROSS THE GRADIENT C	F
	URBANIZATION IN AN ARID REGION	. 35
	1. Abstract	. 35
	2. Introduction	. 36
	3. Methods	. 41
	3.1 Study Area	. 41
	3.2 Sampling Design	. 41
	3.3 Species Identification	. 43
	3.4 Environmental and Landscape Variables	. 44
	3.5 Statistical Analysis	. 46
	4. Results	. 48
	5. Discussion	. 49
REFER	ENCES	. 59
APPEN	IDIX	
А	LIST OF BAT SPECIES EXPECTED TO OCCUR IN THE	
	STUDY AREA	. 75
В	ROYLE-NICHOLS MODEL RESULTS	. 78
С	PREDICTED RELATIVE HABITAT USE ACROSS GRADIENT OF	
	URBANIZAITON	. 91

D	RELATIVE HABITAT USE ACROSS URBANIZATION NTENSITY
	CATEGORIES 101
Е	SPECIES RELATIONSHIPS WITH LANDSCAPE VARIABLES ACROSS
	SEASONS BASED ON ROYLE-NICHOLS MODELS 114
F	SINGLE-SPECIES SINGLE-SEASON OCCUPANCY MODEL
	RESULTS 117
G	SUMMARY OF HOW DETECTION PROBABILITY AND OCCUPANCY
	PROBABILITY VARIED IN RELATION TO ENVIRONEMTNAL AND
	LANDSCAPE VARIABLES 130
Н	PREDICTED OCCUPANCY ACROSS GRADIENT OF
	URBANIZATION 132
Ι	OCCUPANCY ACROSS URBAN INTESITY CATEGORIES 137
J	SPECIES RELATIONSHIPS WITH ENVIRONMENTAL AND
	LANDSCAPE VARIABLES ACROSS SEASONS BASED ON
	OCCUPANCY MODELS 145
K	DORAZIO-ROYLE COMMUNITY MODEL RESULTS 150

Page

# LIST OF TABLES

Table	P	age
1.1	Total Number of Occassions Bats Were Detected Across Seasons	28
1.2	Summary of How Habitat Use of Bats Varied in Relation to Landscpae	
	Variables	29
1.3	Urbanization Guild Classifications	30
1.4	Real Estimates of Occupancy Probability and Detection Probability	31
2.1	Dorazio-Royle Community Model Results	55

# LIST OF FIGURES

Jure Pag	ge
1.1 Map of Study Area 3	32
1.2 Predicted Relative Habitat Use Across the Gradient of Urbanization for the	
Canyon Bat, Mexican Free-tailed Bat, and Western Yellow Bat 3	33
1.3 Predicted Relative Habitat Use Across the Gradient of Urbanization for the Big	
Brown Bat and the Yuma Myotis 3	34
2.1 Map of Study Area 5	56
2.2 Species Richness of Bats in Relation to Urbanization	57
2.3 Predicted Species Richness of Bats Across the Gradient of Urbanization 5	58

# CHAPTER 1

# HABITAT USE OF BATS AND OCCUPANCY OF BATS ACROSS THE GRADIENT OF URBANIZATION AND SEASONS

# 1. Abstract

Urbanization, occurring across a gradient from low- to high-density development, is a primary driver of landscape change that can affect biodiversity. Animals balance trade-offs in obtaining resources and avoiding anthropogenic disturbance across the gradient of urbanization to maximize their fitness. However, additional research is necessary to understand seasonal variations in how animals respond to urbanization, particularly in arid regions, where resource availability shifts drastically across seasons. Our objective was to evaluate the response of a suite of bat species to urbanization and whether species shift their response to urbanization across seasons. We predicted that the response of bats to urbanization would differ among species, with some species being more sensitive to urbanization than others. We also predicted that bat species would increase use of moderate and highly urbanized areas in the summer season, where food and water resources were assumed to be greater compared to wildland areas. To test these hypotheses, we used stationary acoustic bat monitors to sample 50 sites across the gradient of urbanization during four seasons. We identified 14 bat species during 1000 survey nights. Consistent with predictions, bat species exhibited different responses to urbanization, with some species more sensitive (i.e., big/pocketed free-tailed bat, canyon bat, hoary bat, silver-haired bat, western mastiff bat, western red bat, and 40 kHz Myotis)

and other species more tolerant (i.e., California myotis, Mexican free-tailed bat and western yellow bat) of urbanization. Counter to predictions, most species (i.e., big/pocketed free-tailed bat, canyon bat, Mexican free-tailed bat, and western yellow bat) did not appear to shift their response to urbanization across seasons. However, consistent with predictions, two bat species (i.e., big brown bat and Yuma myotis) exhibited higher use of moderate and highly urbanized areas in the summer season compared to other seasons. Differences in the response of bats to urbanization among species was likely related to species traits (e.g., wing morphology, echolocation call metrics) and behavioral characteristics that influence a species' susceptibility to anthropogenic disturbances and ability to access available resources in urbanized areas. Ultimately, results from this study have management and conservation implications, as it is likely important to preserve resources in urbanized areas for bats that are more tolerant of urbanization and to maintain areas of undeveloped high-quality habitat with low anthropogenic disturbance in wildland areas for bats that are sensitive to urbanization.

### 2. Introduction

Habitat use involves trade-offs between maximizing the collection of resources (e.g., food, water) and minimizing the cost from abiotic, biotic, and anthropogenic factors that constrain use (e.g., landscape change, anthropogenic disturbances; (Gedir et al. 2020; Halpin 2000; Hoglander et al. 2015; Krausman 1999; Mysterud and Ims 1998). In addition, resources and costs can be dynamic. For example, although animals select for areas with food and water resources (Gedir et al. 2020; Hawkins, Porter, and Felizola Diniz-Filho 2003; Hoglander et al. 2015; Marshal et al. 2006; McCain et al. 2018; Rehnus et al. 2016) these resources often vary seasonally, and wildlife populations can respond to resource fluctuations by spatially and temporally altering use of areas (Godvik et al. 2009; Hoglander et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2010; Zweifel-Schielly et al. 2009). It is unclear how trade-offs in habitat use change in space and time in many human-modified landscapes, especially in regions with dramatic shifts in resource availability across seasons.

Anthropogenic factors can create novel environments for animals, where each species responds differently to landscape modifications in order to balance trade-offs and maximize fitness. In particular, urbanization, occurring across a gradient from low- to high-density development, is a pervasive and expanding driver of landscape change that can affect biodiversity, where some species benefit and others are negatively impacted (Grimm et al. 2008; McDonald, Kareiva, and Forman 2008; McDonald, Marcotullio, and Güneralp 2013; McDonnell and Pickett 1990; Medley, McDonnell, and Pickett 1995; Savard, Clergeau, and Mennechez 2000; Seto, Parnell, and Elmqvist 2013). Compared to wildland areas, food and water resources can increase for some species at low to moderate levels of urban intensity (Falk 1976; McKinney 2002; Shochat et al. 2006). Areas with high levels of urbanization also can provide food and water resources, but these areas are typically characterized by greater amounts of impervious surfaces (e.g., houses, buildings, parking lots) and anthropogrenic disturbance, and may lack resources for some species (McKinney 2002, 2006; Shochat et al. 2006). Depending upon how wildlife responds to urbanization, species can be categorized into three guilds of

3

urbanization: "Urbanization avoiders" reach their highest population densities in wildland areas, "urbanization adapters" peak in density at moderate levels of urbanization, and "urbanization exploiters" reach their highest densities in highly urbanized areas (Blair 1996; McKinney 2002). However, species' use of urbanized areas can vary by season, possibly due to changing resources and resource availability in wildland areas (Fischer et al. 2015; Grimm et al. 2008; Krausman 1999).

Trade-offs in habitat use can be more pronounced in some regions, such as hot, arid environments (Gedir et al. 2020; Van de Ven, McKechnie, and Cunningham 2019), where climate differs significantly among seasons and seasonal precipitation can create large fluctuations in food and water availability (Nov-Meir 1973; Gedir et al. 2020; Van de Ven, McKechnie, and Cunningham 2019). Furthermore, urbanized environments in desert ecosystems can have higher plant productivity and more consistent water sources than the surrounding wildland areas in some seasons, such as during the hot and dry summer months (Brown, Valone, and Curtin 1997; Korine et al. 2015; Razgour, Korine, and Saltz 2010; Russo, Cistrone, and Jones 2012; Shochat et al. 2006). Habitat use along the gradient of urbanization in arid regions, therefore, involves seasonal trade-offs between obtaining available resources, such as food and water, and minimizing costs, such as anthropogenic disturbances (Acebes, Malo, and Traba 2013; Rubin et al. 2002). Varying resource availability across seasons in arid regions could produce dynamic patterns of habitat use along the gradient of urbanization, which is largely unknown for many important species groups.

4

Bats are a diverse group of species that play important roles in ecosystems around the world and can be sensitive to urbanization (Agosta 2002; Jones et al. 2009; Russo and Ancillotto 2015). In addition to urban intensity, habitat use of bat species is influenced by food and water availability and other anthropogenic disturbances (Barré et al. 2021; Conenna et al. 2019; Dalhoumi et al. 2018; Korine and Pinshow 2004; Russo and Ancillotto 2015; Saldaña-Vázquez and Munguía-Rosas 2013; Scanlon and Petit 2008; Schoeman 2016; Shapiro et al. 2020; Stone, Harris, and Jones 2015; C. Threlfall et al. 2011). Some bat species may select for areas with higher plant productivity and water availability, due to an increase in insect abundance and water resources, which might be especially important for bats in arid environments where water is a limiting resource during some seasons (Ancillotto et al. 2019; Korine et al. 2016; H. Li and Wilkins 2014; McCain 2007; Mendes et al. 2017; C. Threlfall et al. 2011). Although each bat species exhibits varying patterns of use along the urbanization gradient (Jung and Kalko 2011; Jung and Threlfall 2018; Russo and Ancillotto 2015; Schimpp, Li, and Kalcounis-Rueppell 2018; C.G. Threlfall, Law, and Banks 2012), it is unclear whether the response of bats to urbanization will remain consistent across seasons or change seasonally relative to varying resource availability.

The overall objective of this study was to evaluate how the response of bats to urbanization differed among a suite of bat species and whether species' responses to urbanization changed across seasons. This study was conducted in the Phoenix metropolitan area, which is one of the largest urbanized areas in the United States that continues to rapidly grow in population (Luck and Wu 2002; U.S. Census Bureau 2018;

Wu et al. 2011), and occurs in one of the hottest and driest climates in North America. In addition, this region of Arizona supports one of the highest diversities of bat species in the United States (Adams 2003; Arizona Game and Fish Department 2021). Our specific objectives were to test hypotheses evaluating (1) the relative habitat use and occupancy (hereafter collectively referred to as "use") for a suite of bat species across the gradient of urbanization, (2) whether the response of bats along the gradient of urbanization changed seasonally, and (3) whether bats exhibited stronger relationships with plant productivity and water in the summer season. We predicted that each bat species would exhibit varying population responses across the gradient of urbanization, with some bat species being more sensitive to urbanization and other species showing more tolerance to urbanization. We also expected some bat species to increase their use of moderate and highly urbanized areas during the summer season when we assumed that there were potentially greater food and water resources available in urbanized areas compared to wildland areas during this season. In addition, we predicted that bats across the gradient of urbanization would increase their use of areas with increased plant productivity and water in the summer season.

## 3. Methods

#### 3.1 Study Area

The study area was located in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona, USA, which exhibits a gradient of urbanization, from undeveloped wildland to highly urbanized areas (Figure 1.1). The region is one of the most urbanized areas in the United States, which continues to rapidly urbanize (Luck and Wu 2002; U.S. Census Bureau 2018; Wu et al. 2011). The Phoenix metropolitan area is in the northern Sonoran Desert and is characterized by a hot and dry climate with an average summer temperature of 30.8°C, an average winter temperature of 11.3°C, and an annual precipitation of around 180 mm (Buyantuyev, Wu, and Gries 2010; Wu et al. 2011). The climate supports desert and riparian vegetation including the saguaro cactus (*Carnegiea gigantea*), paloverde (*Parkinsonia spp.*), creosote bush (*Larrea tridentate*), Fremont cottonwood (*Populus fremontii*), and Arizona willow (*Salix arizonica*) (Buyantuyev, Wu, and Gries 2010; Grimm and Redman 2004). Throughout the valley, over 290 km of canals bring water from the Colorado, Salt, and Gila Rivers to residents, providing year-round water sources (Ellin 2010; Roach et al. 2008).

# 3.2 Sampling Design

We used 2010 National Agriculture Imagery Program (NAIP) imagery with 1x1 m resolution (X. Li 2015) to create an urban intensity layer, which was calculated as the proportion of urbanization (impervious surfaces) within a 1000 m radius buffer around each sampling location. Across the gradient of urbanization, we used a stratified random sampling design to select 10 sites in each of five strata of urban intensity ranging from undeveloped to highly developed (urban intensity ranges for the categories included 0-0.005, 0.006-0.17, 0.18-0.35, 0.36-0.53, and 0.54-0.81). Sites occurred below an elevation of 550 m to control for changes in temperature, topography, and vegetation, and

were at least 1.5 km away from each other. We also avoided sampling areas associated with agriculture.

At each of the 50 sampling locations, one stationary, passive acoustic bat monitor was used to survey for five consecutive nights per season, from sunset to sunrise (Britzke, Gillam, and Murray 2013). All sites were surveyed during each of the four seasons in 2019: winter (January 7<sup>th</sup> – March 1st), spring (April 8<sup>th</sup> – May 31<sup>st</sup>), summer (July 8<sup>th</sup> – August 30<sup>th</sup>), and fall (October 7<sup>th</sup> – November 29<sup>th</sup>). The sites were divided into six groups, where each group contained eight or nine sites in proximity, that were surveyed in a random order every season. If a survey was not completed due to weather events, monitor malfunctions, or vandalism, then the site was resurveyed at the end of the season. Each site was surveyed using one SM4BAT-FS acoustic bat monitor with a vertically positioned SMM-U2 microphone (Wildlife Acoustics, Maynard, MA). To standardize the sampling of locations and reduce potential sampling bias, the microphone was placed 3 to 5 m off the ground, positioned within a potential bat flyway, and not within 15 m of water or large pavement surfaces, such as roads, to avoid sound interference (Britzke, Gillam, and Murray 2013; Weller and Zabel 2002). The microphone was also not directly below vegetation clutter, artificial light, or powerlines to avoid a possible behavior change, and thus an echolocation call change, in bats (Britzke, Gillam, and Murray 2013). Monitor settings were configured to maximize likelihood of capturing calls from bats in the Phoenix region, with call frequencies ranging from 8-60 kHz, and to filter out ambient noise as much as possible (Reichert et al. 2018).

8

# 3.3 Species Identification

To identify species, we used a combination of automated and manual identification of bat calls collected from the acoustic monitors, following the North American Bat Monitoring Program (NABat) guidelines (Reichert et al. 2018). First, all bat calls were imported into SonoBat 4.2.2 (SonoBat, Arcata, CA), where we used the software's automated process to remove noise files and identify species, with associated levels of confidence. Next, we manually identified bat calls by evaluating each call's characteristics and metrics. Only search-phase, or commuter, calls (i.e., calls produced while a bat navigates its environment) were used for manual identification because other call types, such as approach-phase calls or social calls, are less consistent and would have high overlap in call metrics among some species (Britzke, Gillam, and Murray 2013; Reichert et al. 2018). A species was considered to be confidently identified if the call metrics were within the typical ranges observed for that species and if there were at least five (three for rare or quiet species, such as *Eumops perotis*) consecutive search-phase call pulses with even inter-pulse intervals from one individual with no interference from another bat (Reichert et al. 2018). Using this process, a voucher file (i.e., one high quality, confidently identified recording per species per monitoring night; Reichert et al. 2018) was produced and used in analyses.

The expected regional pool of bat species for our study area depended on the geographic and elevation range of Arizona bat species during each season. Out of the 28 bat species recorded in Arizona, we expected 15 species to be present in the Phoenix metropolitan area, 11 of which were expected to be present year-round (Appendix A). It

can be difficult to confidently, acoustically identify some species since multiple species can share similar call metrics. We therefore combined *Nyctinomops femorosaccus* and *Nyctinomops macrotis* calls into *Nyctinomops sp.*, as the species are acoustically indistinguishable from each other. In addition, myotis bat species that produce calls within the 35-45 kHz range (i.e., *Myotis auriculus, Myotis ciliolabrum, Myotis occultus, Myotis velifer* and *Myotis volans*) were classified as "40 kHz Myotis" due to high overlap in call characteristics (Corcoran and Conner 2012; Reichert et al. 2018). Calls classified as 40 kHz myotis species are most likely *Myotis velifer*, as the other species are either more likely to occur outside of the study area or are more likely to be found at higher elevations (Appendix A). However, we still classified these calls as "40 kHz Myotis" since some of the species more likely to be found at higher elevations could potentially travel through the study area.

# 3.4 Landscape and Environmental Variables

We evaluated three landscape variables that we expected to influence habitat use and occupancy probability: urbanization, plant productivity, and distance to water. The variable "urbanization" was measured at multiple scales and was defined as the proportion of urbanization (impervious surface) within a buffer (i.e., 125, 250, 500, 1000 and 2000 m radius) associated with a site (X. Li 2015). To evaluate non-linear relationships with urbanization, we also evaluated the quadratic relationship for urbanization. In addition, the variable "plant productivity" was defined as the normalized difference in vegetation index (NDVI) associated with a site, averaged across the duration of each season, and was measured at multiple scales (i.e., 125, 250, 500, 1000 and 2000 m radius buffers). Lastly, using Google Earth (Google, Mountain View, CA) and 2015 NAIP imagery (Zhang and Turner II 2020), we identified perennial water sources that were >7 m in length or width, including swimming pools (Hall et al. 2016; Nystrom and Bennett 2019; Razgour, Korine, and Saltz 2010). Using this information, we evaluated the variable "water", which was the distance from each site to the nearest water source. It was hypothesized that plant productivity and water were important covariates to consider in part because it was assumed that insect abundance would be higher in areas with increased plant productivity (Haddad et al. 2001; Lightfoot and Whitford 1989; Siemann 1998) and increased water (Straka et al. 2020), which was particularly important for insectivorous bats. We considered evaluating a landscape heterogeneity metric "dissimilarity" (Farwell et al. 2020), but we excluded the covariate because it was highly correlated (r > 0.60) with other covariates across most scales.

For single-species single-season occupancy modeling, we evaluated two environmental variables that we expected to influence species detection probability: mintemp and moon. The variable "mintemp" was defined as the average minimum temperature across the five survey nights, or occasions, within a season (Caryl et al. 2016; Thornton et al. 2020). In addition, the variable "moon" was defined as the average percent lunar illumination at 23:00 hours (UTC-7) across the five occasions within a season (Allen et al. 2009; NASA 2019; Scanlon and Petit 2008). It was hypothesized that these variables would influence species detection because some bat species decrease activity when temperatures are low and lunar illumination is high (Erickson and West 2002; Saldaña-Vázquez and Munguía-Rosas 2013; Scanlon and Petit 2008). We predicted that detection probability of bats would exhibit a positive relationship with temperature during cooler seasons. Furthermore, we predicted that the response of bats to temperature would vary among species in the summer season, depending on the species' heat tolerance (Czenze et al. 2020). In addition, we predicted that the response of bats to lunar illumination would vary among species, potentially related to differences in species traits, such as foraging strategy (Saldaña-Vázquez and Munguía-Rosas 2013).

To aid in model convergence, all continuous variables were standardized by subtracting the sample mean and dividing by the standard deviation (Schielzeth 2010). We evaluated the correlation between all variables using a Pearson's correlation test and we did not include covariates that were highly correlated (r > 0.60) in the same model.

### 3.5 Statistical Analysis

For our analysis, we used detection/non-detection data, where a species was either detected (1) or not detected (0) during an occasion (e.g., night). There were a total of 5 occasions (i.e., nights) per site per season (winter, spring, summer, and fall).

We used two modeling approaches to evaluate (1) relative habitat use and (2) single-season occupancy in relation to landscape characteristics (MacKenzie et al. 2003; Royle and Nichols 2003). We used program R (R Development Core Team 2020) and the RMark package (Laake and Rexstad 2008) to evaluate models in Program MARK (White and Burnham 1999). First, we used Royle-Nichols (RN) models to evaluate heterogeneity in abundance ( $\lambda$ ) across sites considering heterogeneity in detection probability (Royle and Nichols 2003). We followed the recommendation that RN models be used as a

relative measure of intensity of habitat use for species with relatively large home ranges (Nakashima 2020), such as bats (Conenna et al. 2019; Klingbeil and Willig 2009). For RN models, we assumed the spatial distribution of animals across sites followed a Poisson distribution and that the probability of detecting a species at a site was related to the species-specific detection probability (r) and the number of visits, or animals, of the species at that site (Donovan 2007; Royle and Nichols 2003).

Second, we used single-species single-season occupancy models to estimate (a) occupancy probability ( $\psi$ ; the probability that a site was occupied or used by the species) and (b) detection probability (p; the probability of detecting the species given that it was present at a site) (MacKenzie et al. 2017). It was assumed that populations were closed during a season (MacKenzie et al. 2017).

For both the RN and occupancy modeling model selection process, we determined the best scale (i.e., 125-2000 m radius buffer) for urbanization and plant productivity by evaluating which scale in univariate models was most supported based on Akaike Information Criteria corrected for small sample size (AICc; Anderson and Burnham 2004). To evaluate whether there was evidence of a non-linear relationship with urbanization, we compared model support for the linear and quadratic relationships for urbanization using AICc. In addition, we considered whether there was support for an interaction between urbanization and NDVI or water. The interaction term between urbanization and water was highly correlated with water and therefore the interaction term was not evaluated. Finally, using the best scales for each covariate, we evaluated all possible model combinations for each species and each season. We considered a variable as informative if it occurred in a model that outperformed the intercept-only model (i.e., model without covariates). We further identified a variable as an "uninformative parameter" if it did not sufficiently improve the log likelihood of models (Arnold 2010; Leroux 2019).

For the occupancy modeling model selection process, we first determined whether detection probability variables (i.e., mintemp or moon) informed detection probability for each species and each season. We compared a model with constant detection probability (p(.)) to a model where detection probability varied with mintemp (p(mintemp)), moon (p(moon)), and mintemp and moon (p(mintemp + moon)). If p(mintemp), p(moon), or p(mintemp+moon) were more supported than p(.) based on AICc, then the detection variable(s) was included in all subsequent models evaluating occupancy probability.

Using results from the RN and single-season single-species occupancy modeling, we classified bat species into "urbanization avoider", "urbanization adapter", and "urbanization exploiter" guilds based on where the species reached its highest relative habitat use or occupancy across the gradient of urbanization (Blair 1996). A bat was classified as an urbanization avoider if the species reached its highest relative habitat use or occupancy in wildland and low urbanization areas and exhibited a negative relationship with urbanization (Blair 1996; Callaghan et al. 2020). In contrast, a bat was classified as an urbanization exploiter if the species reached its highest relative habitat use or occupancy in areas of high urbanization and exhibited a positive relationship with urbanization (Blair 1996; Callaghan et al. 2020). Lastly, a bat was classified as an urbanization adapter if the species peaked in relative habitat use or occupancy in areas of intermediate urbanization and exhibited a unimodal, or quadratic, relationship with urbanization (Blair 1996). If a bat had too few detections to evaluate their response to urbanization using RN and occupancy models, but was only detected in wildland areas, then the species was considered a potential urbanization avoider. Any species that did not exhibit patterns consistent with the three urbanization categories were considered "unclassified".

# 4. Results

Across our 50 sites during four seasons, we identified a total of 14 bat species during 1000 nightly occasions (Table 1.1). For most species, the greatest number of occasions (i.e., nightly sampling periods) that a species was detected occurred in the spring or summer season (Table 1.1). We obtained sufficient data to evaluate habitat use and occupancy of 14 species for at least one season, with 10 of these species allowing for comparisons across multiple seasons (Table 1.1).

#### 4.1 Relative Habitat Use

## 4.1.1 Response to Urbanization

Habitat use estimated from Royle-Nichols (RN) models supported our hypothesis that some bat species would be more sensitive to urbanization than others (Figure 1.2; Appendix B-D). Some species (i.e., big/pocketed free tailed bat, canyon bat, hoary bat, silver-haired bat, western mastiff bat, western red bat, Yuma myotis, and 40 kHz Myotis) exhibited a negative relationship with urbanization in one or more seasons (Table 1.2; Appendix B). In contrast, other species (i.e., big brown bat and Mexican free-tailed bat) exhibited a positive relationship with urbanization in one or more seasons (Table 1.2; Appendix B). Lastly, other bats (i.e., big brown bat, California myotis, western yellow bat, and Yuma myotis) exhibited their highest use of areas of intermediate urbanization (i.e., quadratic relationship) in one or more seasons (Table 1.2; Appendix B). Based on these results, bats were classified into the categories of urbanization avoider (i.e., big/pocketed free-tailed bat, canyon bat, hoary bat, silver-haired bat, western mastiff bat, western red bat, Yuma myotis, and 40 kHz Myotis), urbanization exploiter (i.e., big brown bat and Mexican free-tailed bat), and urbanization adapter (i.e., big brown bat, California myotis, western yellow bat, and Yuma myotis) (Table 1.3).

Estimates of habitat use from RN models also demonstrated that, counter to predictions, most bat species (i.e., big/pocketed free-tailed bat, canyon bat, Mexican freetailed bat, western mastiff bat, and western yellow bat) did not appear to shift their response to urbanization across seasons (Table 1.2; Appendix B-D). However, some bat species did vary their response to urbanization across seasons (Figure 1.3; Table 1.2; Appendix B-D). For example, the big brown bat exhibited a quadratic relationship with urbanization during the spring season (i.e., urbanization adapter) and a positive relationship with urbanization in the summer season (i.e., urbanization exploiter) (Table 1.2 and 1.3; Appendix B), supporting our hypothesis that some bat species would increase habitat use of highly urbanized areas during the summer season. In addition, the Yuma myotis exhibited a quadratic relationship with urbanization in the spring and summer season (i.e., urbanization adapter) and a negative relationship with urbanization during the fall season (i.e., urbanization avoider) (Table 1.2 and 1.3; Appendix B).

# 4.1.2 Response to Plant Productivity and Distance to Water

In addition to urban intensity, habitat use of bats varied in relation to plant productivity and water (Table 1.2; Appendix B and E). Although variable, habitat use for some bats (i.e., big brown bat, California myotis, canyon bat, hoary bat, Mexican freetailed bat, pallid bat, western mastiff bat, western red bat, western yellow bat, Yuma myotis, and 40 kHz Myotis) tended to exhibit a positive relationship with plant productivity across many seasons; however, some species (i.e., canyon bat, Mexican freetailed bat, and silver-haired bat) exhibited a negative relationship with plant productivity in winter, spring, and fall (Table 1.2; Appendix B and E). In addition, there was variation in how bats responded to distance to water. Some bats (i.e., California myotis, Mexican free-tailed bat, western red bat, and western yellow bat) exhibited a negative relationship with distance to water across many seasons, indicating that habitat use decreased as distance to water increased (Table 1.2; Appendix E). In contrast, other bats (i.e., canyon bat and pallid bat) exhibited a positive relationship with distance to water (Table 1.2; Appendix E).

#### 4.2 Occupancy

### 4.2.1 Response to Urbanization

Occupancy of bats ranged from 0.02 - 1.00 (Table 1.4), and results of occupancy models were similar to results of habitat use from RN models. Consistent with

predictions, some bat species were more sensitive to urbanization than others (Appendix S6-S9).

Overall, counter to predictions, occupancy model results also demonstrated that most bats did not appear to shift their response to urbanization across seasons (Appendix F-I). However, consistent with predictions, the big brown bat exhibited a quadratic relationship with urbanization during the spring season (i.e., urbanization adapter) and a positive relationship with urbanization in the summer season (i.e., urbanization exploiter) (Table 1.3; Appendix F and G).

Although occupancy model results were similar to results of habitat use from RN models, there were a few differences. First, in the spring season, habitat use of the Yuma myotis exhibited a quadratic response to urbanization, while occupancy of the Yuma myotis exhibited a negative response to urbanization (Appendix B and F). In addition, in the fall season, habitat use of the Western yellow bat exhibited a quadratic response to urbanization, while occupance to urbanization, while occupancy of the Western yellow bat exhibited a positive response to urbanization (Appendix B and F).

## 4.2.2 Response to Plant Productivity and Distance to Water

In addition to urban intensity, occupancy of bats varied in relation to plant productivity and water (Appendix F, G and J). Occupancy for many bats (i.e., big brown bat, California myotis, canyon bat, hoary bat, western mastiff bat, western red bat, western yellow bat, Yuma myotis, and 40 kHz Myotis) exhibited a positive relationship with plant productivity across many seasons (Appendix G and J). In addition, there was variation in how bats responded to distance to water. Some bats (i.e., California myotis and western yellow bat) exhibited a negative relationship with distance to water in the spring and summer season, indicating that habitat use decreased as distance to water increased (Appendix G and J). In contrast, other bats (i.e., big/pocketed free-tailed bat and hoary bat) exhibited a positive relationship with distance to water in the winter, spring, and fall season (Appendix G and J).

# 4.2.3 Response to Temperature and Lunar Illumination

Detection probability in occupancy models of bat species ranged from 0.03 – 0.80 (Table 1.4) and was influenced by average minimum temperature and average lunar illumination for some species (Appendix F, G and J). Although variable, detection probability for many bats (i.e., big/pocketed free-tailed bat, canyon bat, Mexican freetailed bat, western mastiff bat, and western yellow bat) tended to exhibit a positive relationship with temperature across many seasons; however, some species (i.e., big/pocketed free-tailed bat, canyon bat, hoary bat, Mexican free-tailed bat, and Yuma myotis) exhibited a negative relationship with temperature in the spring and summer season (Appendix G and J). Furthermore, consistent with predications, detection probability of some bats (i.e., big brown bat, California myotis, Mexican free-tailed bat, western yellow bat and Yuma myotis) exhibited a negative relationship with lunar illumination across all seasons the species was detected, whereas detection probability of other species (i.e., big/pocketed free-tailed bat, canyon bat, western red bat, and 40 kHz Myotis) exhibited a positive relationship lunar illumination across all seasons the species was detected (Appendix G and J).

# 5. Discussion

Bats in our study exhibited varying responses to urbanization, where species likely balanced trade-offs in obtaining resources and avoiding anthropogenic disturbances across the gradient of urbanization. Based on how bats responded to urbanization, we classified bats into three guilds: urbanization avoider (i.e., big/pocketed free tailed bat, canyon bat, hoary bat, pallid bat, silver-haired bat, western mastiff bat, and 40 kHz Myotis), urbanization exploiter (i.e., Mexican free-tailed bat), and urbanization adapter (i.e., California myotis and western yellow bat). Differences in response of bats to urbanization among species was likely related to species traits and behavioral characteristics. For example, bats that avoided urbanized areas (i.e., urbanization avoiders) tended to be sensitive to human disturbance, specialized in roosting strategy, or potentially challenged to access available resources in urbanized areas due to traits such as weak flight and low mobility (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Jung and Kalko 2011; Jung and Threlfall 2018). In contrast, bats that exploited resources in highly urbanized environments (i.e., urbanization exploiters) tended to be tolerant of anthropogenic disturbances, such as artificial lighting, and can access available resources with traits such as strong flight and high mobility (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Jung and Kalko 2011; Jung and Threlfall 2018; Schoeman 2016). Further, bats that exhibited their highest use at intermediate levels of urbanization (i.e., urbanization adapters) tended to be

flexible in roosting strategy and vary in flight strength and mobility (Adams 2003; Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Gehrt and Chelsvig 2004; Norberg and Rayner 1987; Schimpp, Li, and Kalcounis-Rueppell 2018). However, the big/pocketed free-tailed bat and western mastiff bat, which share many traits with urbanization exploiters, avoided urbanized areas. This was possibly due to the species' roosting requirements of high cliffs and complex rock features that are more widely available in wildland areas (Adams 2003; Arizona Game and Fish Department 2020; Remington 2006).

Due to dynamic resource availability across the gradient of urbanization, species might shift their response (i.e., urbanization category) to urbanization across seasons. Counter to our predictions, however, most bat species exhibited a consistent response to urbanization across seasons (i.e., did not shift their response to urbanization across seasons), even though some food and water resources were assumed to be greater in urbanized areas during the summer season. Thus, most bats in this study were consistent in how they used urbanization across seasons; potentially the cost of accessing resources in urbanized environments during the summer season did not outweigh the benefits. However, consistent with predictions, two bat species (i.e., big brown bat and Yuma myotis) shifted and increased their use of moderate and highly urbanized areas in the summer season compared to other seasons. The big brown bat was likely able to increase use of highly urbanized areas in the summer season due to traits that increase adaptability, such as a flexible roosting strategy, as well as traits that enable the species to access available resources, such as high mobility (Adams 2003; Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Gehrt and Chelsvig 2004; Norberg and Rayner 1987; Schimpp, Li, and KalcounisRueppell 2018). In addition, the Yuma myotis is closely associated with water and potentially increased use of moderately urbanized environments to access available water sources during the summer season (Adams 2003; Arizona Game and Fish Department 2020; Braun et al. 2015).

In addition to urban intensity, habitat use and occupancy of bats was influenced by plant productivity and water. We assumed that areas with increased plant productivity and water would exhibit increased food and water resources (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Haddad et al. 2001; Lightfoot and Whitford 1989; Siemann 1998), and that those resources would be most abundant in urbanized areas during the hot and dry summer season, compared to wildland areas. Although some bat species (i.e., big brown bat, California myotis, canyon bat, pallid bat, western yellow bat, and 40 kHz Myotis) exhibited high use of areas with higher plant productivity during the summer season, it also appeared to be important to bats during other seasons that bats were active. Distance to water was not included in the top model for most bat species and seasons. However, it appeared to be an important variable for some bats during the summer season in particular. For example, the California myotis is often associated with water (Adams 2003; Arizona Game and Fish Department 2020), and this species used areas closer to water in the summer season.

For some bats, detection probability in occupancy models was influenced by average minimum temperature and average lunar illumination. Although many bat species (i.e., canyon bat, Mexican free-tailed bat, and western yellow bat) exhibited a positive relationship with temperature in the winter and fall season (Bender and Hartman 2015; Scanlon and Petit 2008), there were no consistent patterns during the spring and summer season, with some species (i.e., western mastiff bat and western yellow bat) exhibiting a positive relationship with temperature and other species (i.e., hoary bat, Mexican free-tailed bat, and Yuma myotis) exhibiting a negative relationship with temperature. During cooler seasons, bat activity can increases with warmer temperatures (Bender and Hartman 2015; Scanlon and Petit 2008; Meyer, Senulis, and Reinartz 2016), and some bats could potentially increase activity during cooler seasons in urbanized areas due to the urban heat island effect (Sachanowicz et al. 2019). Desert-adapted bat species can be tolerant of high temperatures, even during the summer (Bondarenco, Körtner, and Geiser 2014, 2016). However, our study demonstrated variation among species, which is potentially related to variation in heat tolerance among species (Bondarenco, Körtner, and Geiser 2013; Czenze et al. 2020). In addition, the influence of lunar illumination on the detection probability of bats was species-specific, with some species (i.e., big/pocketed free-tailed bat, canyon bat, western red bat, and 40 kHz Myotis) exhibiting a positive relationship with lunar illumination and other species (i.e., big brown bat, California myotis, Mexican free-tailed bat, western yellow bat and Yuma myotis) exhibiting a negative relationship with lunar illumination, also known as lunar phobia (Saldaña-Vázquez and Munguía-Rosas 2013). Lunar phobia (i.e., decreased activity during nights with increased moonlight) is potentially due to predation risk or prey availability, and reported to be exhibited by bats with certain traits, such as trawling insectivorous diet (i.e., diet of insects that fly close to or rest on water surfaces) and narrow-space foraging strategy (i.e., bats that tend to forage within dense vegetation or

near the ground) (Lang et al. 2006; Saldaña-Vázquez and Munguía-Rosas 2013), which was consistent with some bats in our study, including a trawling insectivore (i.e., Yuma myotis) and a narrow-space forager (i.e., California myotis). However, some species (i.e., big/pocketed free-tailed bat, canyon bat, western red bat, and 40 kHz Myotis) exhibited a positive relationship with lunar illumination, demonstrating that there is wide variability in how bats respond to lunar illumination (Appel et al. 2017; Appel et al. 2019; Vásquez, Grez, and Rodríguez-San Pedro 2020). Although little research has evaluated increased bat activity during nights with increased moonlight, this could potentially result from changes in food resources or due to species interactions.

There are several considerations when interpreting the results of this study. First, there are limitations using acoustic bat monitoring. For example, some bat species are difficult to detect with acoustic monitors, such as bats that produce low intensity (i.e., "quiet") echolocation calls (i.e., California leaf-nosed bat, pallid bat, and Townsend's big-eared bat) (Reichert et al. 2018). Therefore, our methodology likely underestimated the occupancy and habitat use of the pallid bat and Townsend's big-eared bat and possibly contributed to not detecting the California leaf-nosed bat, which was known to occur in the study area (Adams 2003; Arizona Game and Fish Department 2020). Second, we assumed that areas with increased plant productivity and water exhibited increased insect abundance, which was the main food resource for the insectivorous bats in this study (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Haddad et al. 2001; Lightfoot and Whitford 1989; Siemann 1998). However, insects can be influenced by a variety of factors along the gradient of urbanization that we were unable to measure in this study, such as

artificial light, insect-plant associations, and other habitat considerations for insect species (Bolliger, Hennet, Wermelinger, Blum, et al. 2020; Bolliger, Hennet, Wermelinger, Bösch, et al. 2020; Jaganmohan, Vailshery, and Nagendra 2013; Rowse et al. 2016). Therefore, plant productivity might not be the best indicator of insect resources and additional landscape factors might better represent insect abundance and help explain bat use of areas. Furthermore, the availability of food resources in urbanized environments can depend on a bats' diet, where insect abundance across the gradient of urbanization may vary by species. Abundance of many prey species are negatively influenced by urbanization (Dar and Jamal 2021; Piano et al. 2020). However, abundance of some prev species can increase in urbanized areas, such as increased beetle and moth abundance in residential yards (Bang and Faeth 2011; Bates et al. 2014) or increased mosquito abundance around standing water (Rochlin et al. 2016; Wilke et al. 2019). Third, precipitation from monsoon rains during the summer season (July-August) could potentially influence bat use across the gradient of urbanization. During this study, the monsoon season exhibited below average precipitation, and was classified as one of the driest summers during the last 100 years (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 2021). Thus, due to assumed limiting water and food resources, we would expect that bats might be more likely to increase their use of urbanized areas during the summer of this study, compared to years with above average summer precipitation when wildland areas would be expected to exhibit greater water resources. Lastly, we focused on two important population metrics to evaluate bat populations: relative habitat use and occupancy probability. However, there are other

important metrics to consider for understanding bat use of urbanized environments, such as population density, activity patterns, species interactions, extinction and colonization, survival and reproduction of different age and sex classes, fitness, and competition (Gehrt and Chelsvig 2004; Lintott et al. 2016; Neece, Loeb, and Jachowski 2018; Patriquin et al. 2019; Rodríguez-Aguilar et al. 2017; Zuñiga-Palacios et al. 2021). For example, the Mexican free-tailed bat can exhibit high use in urbanized areas (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Bredt and Uieda 1996; Krauel and LeBuhn 2016), and potentially exclude species that would otherwise be able to access available resources.

The trade-off between bats using resources within urbanized areas and avoiding anthropogenic disturbance has important implications for their management and conservation that is likely related to species-specific traits. For some species, the cost of urbanization appeared to outweigh the benefits of obtaining available resources in urbanized areas. For example, bats that avoided urbanized areas (i.e., canyon bat and 40 kHz Myotis) tended to be sensitive to anthropogenic disturbances or exhibit traits that make it difficult to access resources in urbanized environments, such as weak flight and low mobility (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Jung and Kalko 2011; Jung and Threlfall 2018). In contrast, some bats appeared able to exploit resources in highly urbanized environments (i.e., Mexican free-tailed bat), and tend to be tolerant of anthropogenic disturbances and exhibit traits that allow them to access resources in highly urbanized environments, such as strong flight and high mobility (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Jung and Kalko 2011; Jung and Threlfall 2018; Schoeman 2016). Further, bats that shift their response to urbanization across seasons (i.e., big brown bat) may exhibit traits that
increase adaptability, such as flexibility in roosting strategy and edge-space foraging, as well as traits that enable the species to access resources in urbanized environments, such as high mobility (Adams 2003; Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Gehrt and Chelsvig 2004; Norberg and Rayner 1987; Schimpp, Li, and Kalcounis-Rueppell 2018). Ultimately, results from this study have important management and conservation implications for bats across the gradient of urbanization. For bats that exploit moderate to high levels of urbanization, outdoor parks, green-spaces, trees, water, and other landscape features may provide important resources to bats that enable them to use these areas (Dalhoumi et al. 2018; de Araújo and Bernard 2016; Johnson, Gates, and Ford 2008; Russo and Ancillotto 2015). For other bat species that tend to avoid urbanization and use wildland areas, it is likely important to maintain large areas of high-quality undeveloped habitat and with low anthropogenic disturbance in these areas (Ancillotto et al. 2019; Grindal, Morissette, and Brigham 1999; Korine et al. 2016).

Table 1.1: Total number of nightly occasions that 14 bat species were detected across 50 sites in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona during four seasons (5 nightly occasions per season) in 2019. Bolded numbers indicate that sufficient data were available to evaluate Royle-Nichols (RN) models or single-species single-season occupancy models, for at least the intercept-only model.

	Total Number of Occasions Detected							
Bat Species	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall				
Big brown bat	0	13	18	0				
Big/Pocketed free-tailed bat	22	23	12	21				
California myotis	0	16	40	6				
Canyon bat	43	92	184	77				
Hoary bat	7	16	6	0				
Mexican free-tailed bat	157	188	160	120				
Pallid bat	0	4	8	0				
Silver-haired bat	0	2	3	8				
Townsend's big-eared bat	0	1	3	1				
Western mastiff bat	6	10	3	8				
Western red bat	11	9	3	13				
Western yellow bat	16	41	63	25				
Yuma myotis	5	32	44	21				
40 kHz Myotis	0	14	26	0				

<u> </u>			U		Р	UxP	W
Species	Season	Beta	Scale	Beta	Scale	Beta	Beta
Big brown bat	Spring	Q	250				
	Summer	+	500	+	125		
Big/pocketed free- tailed bat	Winter	-	1000				
	Spring	-	2000				
	Summer	-	1000				
	Fall	-	1000				
California myotis	Spring	Q	2000				
	Summer			+	2000		-
Canyon bat	Winter	-	1000	+	250		
	Spring	-	1000	-	125		
	Summer	-	2000				
	Fall	-	1000				+
Hoary bat	Spring	-	1000	+	2000		
Mexican free-tailed bat	Winter	+	125	-	125		
	Spring	+	500	+	2000		-
	Summer	+	2000				-
	Fall	+	500	-	500	+	
Pallid bat	Summer			+	2000		+
Silver-haired bat	Fall	-	500	-	2000	+	
Western mastiff bat	Spring			+	1000		
	Fall	-	1000	+	2000		
Western red bat	Winter	-	250				-
	Spring						
	Fall			+	500		
Western yellow bat	Winter	Q	500				
	Spring	Q	500	+	125		-
	Summer	Q	500				-
	Fall	Q	2000				
Yuma myotis	Spring	Q	500	+	2000		
	Summer	Q	2000	+	2000		
	Fall	-	250	+	2000		
40 kHz Myotis	Spring			+	2000		
	Summer	-	2000	+	2000	-	

Table 1.2: Habitat use (based on top Royle-Nichols (RN) model results) for 12 bat species in relation to urbanization (U), plant productivity (P), the interaction between U and P (UxP), and distance to water (W) in the Phoenix metropolitan area, AZ during four seasons in 2019. For each variable, we report the general relationship (positive = +; negative = -; or quadratic = Q) of the beta estimate and the most supported spatial scale (i.e., 125-2000 m radius buffers).

Table 1.3: Urbanization guild classifications<sup>1</sup> for 14 bat species in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona during four seasons in 2019 based on where the species reached its highest relative habitat use (based on top Royle-Nichols (RN) model results) or occupancy (based on single-species single-season occupancy model results) across the gradient of urbanization.

	Urbanization Guild <sup>1</sup>						
Bat Species	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall			
Big brown bat		Adapter	Exploiter				
Big/Pocketed free-tailed bat	Avoider	Avoider	Avoider	Avoider			
California myotis		Adapter	Unclassified				
Canyon bat	Avoider	Avoider	Avoider	Avoider			
Hoary bat		Avoider					
Mexican free-tailed bat	Exploiter	Exploiter	Exploiter	Exploiter			
Pallid bat		*Avoider	*Avoider				
Silver-haired bat			Unclassified	Avoider			
Townsend's big-eared bat			*Avoider				
Western mastiff bat		Unclassified	*Avoider	Avoider			
Western red bat	Avoider	Unclassified		Unclassified			
Western yellow bat	Adapter	Adapter	Adapter	Unclassified			
Yuma myotis	Unclassified	Unclassified	Adapter	Avoider			
40 kHz Myotis		Unclassified	Avoider				

<sup>1</sup>A bat was classified as an "urbanization avoider" if the species reached its highest relative habitat use or occupancy in wildland areas and exhibited a negative relationship with urbanization, an "urbanization exploiter" if the species reached its highest relative habitat use or occupancy in highly urbanized areas and exhibited a positive relationship with urbanization, and an "urbanization adapter" if the species reached its highest relative habitat use or occupancy in moderately urbanized areas and exhibited a quadratic relationship with urbanization. If a bat had too few detections to evaluate their response to urbanization using RN and occupancy modeling but was only detected in wildland areas, then the species was considered a potential urbanization avoider (indicated by an asterisk). Any other species that did not have sufficient data to evaluate their response to urbanization and any species that did not exhibit strong relationships with urbanization were considered "unclassified".

			$\psi$		р
Species	Season	Estimate	se	Estimate	se
Big brown bat	Spring	0.27	0.16	0.12	0.06
	Summer	0.18	0.07	0.35	0.08
Big pocketed free-tailed bat	Winter	0.22	0.14	0.25	0.07
	Spring	0.52	0.15	0.21	0.05
	Summer	0.38	0.13	0.06	0.04
	Fall	0.25	0.10	0.29	0.07
California myotis	Spring	0.03	0.04	0.43	0.09
	Summer	0.34	0.10	0.40	0.06
Canyon bat	Winter	0.37	0.08	0.43	0.06
	Spring	0.62	0.08	0.62	0.05
	Summer	0.96	0.03	0.80	0.03
	Fall	0.57	0.08	0.56	0.04
Hoary bat	Spring	0.42	0.16	0.06	0.03
Mexican free-tailed bat	Winter	0.98	0.02	0.65	0.03
	Spring	1.00	0.00	0.77	0.03
	Summer	0.98	0.03	0.76	0.03
	Fall	0.96	0.04	0.50	0.04
Pallid bat	Spring	0.05	0.03	0.36	0.18
	Summer	0.09	0.04	0.36	0.12
Silver-haired bat	Summer	0.06	0.05	0.20	0.17
	Fall	0.48	0.42	0.07	0.06
Townsend's big-eared bat	Summer	0.06	0.05	0.20	0.17
Western mastiff bat	Spring	0.02	0.02	0.48	0.12
	Summer	0.06	0.05	0.20	0.17
	Fall	0.13	0.07	0.24	0.11
Western red bat	Winter	0.61	0.35	0.06	0.04
	Spring	0.09	0.04	0.45	0.14
	Fall	0.23	0.10	0.20	0.08
Western yellow bat	Winter	0.83	0.28	0.03	0.02
	Spring	0.59	0.16	0.30	0.05
	Summer	0.83	0.09	0.31	0.04
	Fall	0.73	0.21	0.12	0.04
Yuma myotis	Winter	0.18	0.15	0.11	0.10
	Spring	0.50	0.13	0.20	0.05
	Summer	0.30	0.08	0.50	0.06
	Fall	0.39	0.14	0.20	0.06
40 kHz Myotis	Spring	0.25	0.11	0.17	0.06
	Summer	0.26	0.07	0.40	0.07

Table 1.4: Real estimates and standard errors (se) of occupancy probability ( $\psi$ ) and detection probability (p) from the top model for 14 bat species across 50 sites in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona during four seasons in 2019.



Figure 1.1: Fifty sampling locations (black circles) along the gradient of urban intensity from wildland areas (blue) to highly urbanized areas (red), in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona.



Figure 1.2: Several bat species exhibited consistent relationships with urbanization across seasons. Predicted relative habitat use (with associated 95% confidence intervals) based on Royle-Nichols (RN) models across the gradient of urbanization (from low to high urban intensity) for the canyon bat (i.e., urbanization avoider) in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer, and (d) fall, the Mexican free-tailed bat (i.e., urbanization exploiter) in the (e) winter, (f) spring, (g) summer, and (h) fall, and the western yellow bat (i.e., urbanization adapter) in the (i) winter, (j) spring, (k) summer, (l) and fall season. Note that the y-axes are on different scales.



Figure 1.3: Some bat species shifted their response to urbanization (i.e., urbanization category) across seasons. Predicted relative habitat use (with associated 95% confidence intervals) based on Royle-Nichols (RN) models across the gradient of urbanization (from low to high urban intensity) for the big brown bat in the (a) spring (i.e., urbanization adapter) and (b) summer (i.e., urbanization exploiter), and the Yuma myotis in the (c) spring (i.e., urbanization adapter), (d) summer (i.e., urbanization adapter), (e) and fall (i.e., urbanization avoider) season. Note that the y-axes are on different scales.

# CHAPTER 2

# SPECIES RICHNESS OF BATS DECLINES ACROSS THE GRADIENT OF URBANIZATION IN AN ARID REGION

#### 1. Abstract

Wildlife communities exhibit varying patterns of species richness across environmental gradients and respond to a diversity of landscape and anthropogenic factors. In particular, urbanization is a rapidly growing driver of ecological change and occurs across a gradient of intensity from low- to high-density development. Species richness (the number of species present) can potentially exhibit varying patterns across the gradient of urbanization, where species richness can either decrease linearly or peak at intermediate levels of urbanization, consistent with the intermediate disturbance hypothesis (IDH). However, additional research is necessary to understand patterns of species richness across the gradient of urbanization for many important species groups, particularly in understudied regions, such as arid environments. Our objectives were to evaluate species richness of bats (1) along the gradient of urbanization and (2) in response to plant productivity and distance to water. We predicted that species richness of bats would decrease with increased urban intensity if high levels of urbanization had an overall negative effect on the bat community. In contrast, we predicted that species richness of bats would peak at intermediate levels of urbanization, consistent with the IDH, if moderate levels of urbanization provided resources that bats were able to exploit. We also predicted that the bat community would exhibit a positive relationship with plant

productivity and a negative relationship with distance to water. To test these hypotheses, we used stationary acoustic bat monitors to sample 50 sites along the gradient of urbanization in the Phoenix metropolitan area in the summer season. We identified a total of 14 bat species during 250 survey nights. Consistent with predictions, species richness of bats decreased with increasing urban intensity, indicating that high levels of urbanization had a negative effect on most bats in the community. In addition, species richness of bats exhibited a negative relationship with distance to water, indicating that species richness was increased in areas closer to water. However, counter to predictions, species richness of bats did not appear to exhibit a strong relationship with plant productivity. These results have important management and conservation implications for the bat community. To increase species richness of bats in urbanized areas, it is likely important to maintain food and water resources in urbanized areas and to increase landscape connectivity from wildland areas to urbanized areas. To maximize species richness of bats in wildland areas, it is likely important to maintain high-quality undeveloped habitat for bats that are sensitive to urbanization.

# 2. Introduction

The number of species that occur in an area (i.e., species richness) varies across environmental gradients (Mayor et al. 2015; McDonnell and Hahs 2008; McKinney 2008), and is a fundamental community characteristic that responds to a diversity of landscape and anthropogenic factors (Chiba 2007; Currie, Francis, and Kerr 1999; Hawkins et al. 2003; Stein, Gerstner, and Kreft 2014; Udy et al. 2021). In particular, urbanization is a rapidly growing driver of ecological change (McDonald, Kareiva, and Forman 2008; Seto, Parnell, and Elmqvist 2013; Grimm et al. 2008), which can directly and indirectly modify the landscape through land conversion and human activities (Grimm et al. 2008; Seto, Parnell, and Elmqvist 2013) and strongly influence plant and animal populations and communities (McDonald, Kareiva, and Forman 2008; McKinney 2002, 2008). However, the effect of urbanization on biodiversity varies across the gradient of urbanization, from undeveloped wildlands to low-density development to high-density urbanized areas (McDonnell and Pickett 1990; McKinney 2002). Across this gradient, urbanization can create novel patterns of wildlife communities, with species demonstrating positive or negative population effects in response to varying levels of urbanization (Angold et al. 2006; Grimm et al. 2008).

For wildlife communities, species richness can exhibit varying patterns across the gradient of urbanization and in relation to other environmental factors. For example, species richness for vertebrates and invertebrates can peak in wildland areas and decrease with increasing levels of urbanization (Cavia, Cueto, and Suárez 2009; Chace and Walsh 2006; McKinney 2006, 2008; Piano et al. 2020), indicating that urbanization can have an overall negative effect on species richness. In contrast, species richness (i.e., as reported for birds, small mammals, invertebrates, and plants) can peak at intermediate levels of urbanization, where environmental heterogeneity is assumed to be the highest, which is consistent with the intermediate disturbance hypothesis (IDH) (Blair and Launer 1997; Connell 1978; Grimm et al. 2008; McKinney 2008; Racey and Euler 1982). In addition, landscape characteristics, such as plant productivity and water, can have a positive effect

on species richness (Hawkins et al. 2003; Koh, Lee, and Lin 2006; Lisón and Calvo 2011). Regional climate can also influence species richness. For example, species richness in some arid regions can decrease with increasing intensity of some disturbance types, in contrast to the hump-shaped pattern consistent with the IDH in more mesic areas (Gao and Carmel 2020).Ultimately, some important and understudied species groups potentially can exploit anthropogenic resources in unique climatic regions, which provides an opportunity to test hypotheses of how species richness varies across ecological gradients in novel environments.

Bats are a highly diverse group of mammals that play important roles in ecosystems around the world (Agosta 2002; Jones et al. 2009; Russo and Ancillotto 2015) and exhibit a wide range of responses to urbanization. Urbanization can have positive or negative effects on bats, which can influence their populations and use of urbanized areas. In temperate, tropical, and grassland systems, species richness of bats tends to decrease as urbanization increases (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Coleman and Barclay 2011; Hourigan, Johnson, and Robson 2006; Jung and Kalko 2011; Kurta and Teramino 1992). Across other ecological gradients, species richness of bats can exhibit a positive relationship with plant productivity and water availability (Korine et al. 2015; Laverty and Berger 2021; Lisón and Calvo 2011). However, in arid regions climate differs significantly among seasons and variable precipitation can create large fluctuations in food and water availability (Gedir et al. 2020; Noy-Meir 1973; Van de Ven, McKechnie, and Cunningham 2019). Furthermore, urbanized environments in desert regions can have higher plant productivity and more consistent water sources than the surrounding wildland areas in some seasons, such as during the hot and dry summer months (Brown, Valone, and Curtin 1997; Korine et al. 2015; Razgour, Korine, and Saltz 2010; Russo, Cistrone, and Jones 2012; Shochat et al. 2006). Therefore, conditions in arid regions could produce novel patterns of species richness along the gradient of urbanization.

Arid ecosystems can exhibit strong contrasts in resource availability among wildland, low, moderate, and highly urbanized areas, which can potentially shape bat communities in novel ways. Bats can be particularly affected by food and water availability in arid regions, but availability of these resources can be strongly altered by human development (Bazelman 2016; Korine et al. 2015; Korine et al. 2016; Loumassine et al. 2020; Razgour, Korine, and Saltz 2010; Russo, Cistrone, and Jones 2012). Urbanized areas in arid regions can potentially have a positive effect on some bat species by increasing water availability through human-made bodies of water that are often more permanent than natural water sources (Korine et al. 2015; Razgour, Korine, and Saltz 2010; Russo, Cistrone, and Jones 2012). In addition, an increase in water availability in urbanized areas can increase vegetation productivity and foraging opportunities (Korine et al. 2015; Razgour, Korine, and Saltz 2010; Shochat et al. 2006; Straka et al. 2020). Therefore, some bat species might exhibit increased populations in urbanized environments to use these limiting resources. Although species richness of bats can decrease along the urbanization gradient (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Coleman and Barclay 2011; Hourigan, Johnson, and Robson 2006; Jung and Kalko 2011; Kurta and Teramino 1992), it is unclear how patterns of species richness vary across the gradient of

urbanization in an arid region, where there is expected to be increased food and water resources in urbanized areas.

The overall objective of this study was to evaluate how species richness of bats responded to the gradient of urbanization in an arid environment in relation to urban intensity, plant productivity, and distance to water. This study was conducted in the southwestern United States, which is one of the hottest and driest regions in North America and also supports the highest number of bat species on the continent (Ammerman, Hice, and Schmidly 2012; Arizona Game and Fish Department 2021; Frey, MacDonald, and Cook 2006). In addition, the Phoenix metropolitan area is one of the largest urbanized regions in the US and continues to expand (U.S. Census Bureau 2018). The specific objectives of our study were to (1) test hypotheses of how species richness of bats varied across the gradient of urbanization and (2) evaluate the response of the bat community to other landscape variables, plant productivity and distance to water. If high levels of urbanization had an overall negative effect on the bat community, we predicted that species richness of bats would decrease with increased urban intensity. In contrast, if moderate levels of urbanization provided resources that bats could exploit, we predicted that species richness of bats would peak at intermediate levels of urbanization, as consistent with the intermediate disturbance hypothesis. Overall, it was predicted that species richness of bats would exhibit a positive relationship with plant productivity and negative relationship with distance to water, due to assumed increased food (i.e., insects) and water resources in these areas.

#### 3. Methods

#### 3.1 Study Area

The study area was located in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona, USA, which exhibits a gradient of urbanization, from undeveloped wildland to highly urbanized areas (Figure 1.1). The region is one of the most urbanized areas in the United States, which continues to rapidly urbanize (Luck and Wu 2002; U.S. Census Bureau 2018; Wu et al. 2011). The Phoenix metropolitan area is in the northern Sonoran Desert and is characterized by a hot and dry climate with an average summer temperature of 30.8°C, an average winter temperature of 11.3°C, and an annual precipitation of around 180 mm (Buyantuyev, Wu, and Gries 2010; Wu et al. 2011). The climate supports desert and riparian vegetation including the saguaro cactus (*Carnegiea gigantea*), paloverde (*Parkinsonia spp.*), creosote bush (*Larrea tridentate*), Fremont cottonwood (*Populus fremontii*), and Arizona willow (*Salix arizonica*) (Buyantuyev, Wu, and Gries 2010; Grimm and Redman 2004). Throughout the valley, over 290 km of canals bring water from the Colorado, Salt, and Gila Rivers to residents, providing year-round water sources (Ellin 2010; Roach et al. 2008).

# 3.2 Sampling Design

We used 2010 National Agriculture Imagery Program (NAIP) imagery with 1x1 m resolution (X. Li 2015) to create an urban intensity layer, which was calculated as the proportion of urbanization (impervious surfaces) within a 1000 m radius buffer around each sampling location. Across the gradient of urbanization, we used a stratified random

sampling design to select 10 sites in each of five strata of urban intensity ranging from undeveloped to highly developed (urban intensity ranges for the categories included 0-0.005, 0.006-0.17, 0.18-0.35, 0.36-0.53, and 0.54-0.81). Sites occurred below an elevation of 550 m to control for changes in temperature, topography, and vegetation, and were at least 1.5 km away from each other. We also avoided sampling areas associated with agriculture.

At each of the 50 sampling locations, one stationary, passive acoustic bat monitor was used to survey for five consecutive nights per season, from sunset to sunrise (Britzke, Gillam, and Murray 2013). All sites were surveyed during each of the four seasons in 2019: winter (January 7<sup>th</sup> – March 1st), spring (April 8<sup>th</sup> – May 31<sup>st</sup>), summer (July 8<sup>th</sup> – August 30<sup>th</sup>), and fall (October 7<sup>th</sup> – November 29<sup>th</sup>). The sites were divided into six groups, where each group contained eight or nine sites in proximity, that were surveyed in a random order every season. If a survey was not completed due to weather events, monitor malfunctions, or vandalism, then the site was resurveyed at the end of the season. Each site was surveyed using one SM4BAT-FS acoustic bat monitor with a vertically positioned SMM-U2 microphone (Wildlife Acoustics, Maynard, MA). To standardize the sampling of locations and reduce potential sampling bias, the microphone was placed 3 to 5 m off the ground, positioned within a potential bat flyway, and not within 15 m of water or large pavement surfaces, such as roads, to avoid sound interference (Britzke, Gillam, and Murray 2013; Weller and Zabel 2002). The microphone was also not directly below vegetation clutter, artificial light, or powerlines to avoid a possible behavior change, and thus an echolocation call change, in bats (Britzke, Gillam, and Murray 2013). Monitor settings were configured to maximize likelihood of capturing calls from bats in the Phoenix region, with call frequencies ranging from 8-60 kHz, and to filter out ambient noise as much as possible (Reichert et al. 2018).

## 3.3 Species Identification

To identify species, we used a combination of automated and manual identification of bat calls collected from the acoustic monitors, following the North American Bat Monitoring Program (NABat) guidelines (Reichert et al. 2018). First, all bat calls were imported into SonoBat 4.2.2 (SonoBat, Arcata, CA), where we used the software's automated process to remove noise files and identify species, with associated levels of confidence. Next, we manually identified bat calls by evaluating each call's characteristics and metrics. Only search-phase, or commuter, calls (i.e., calls produced while a bat navigates its environment) were used for manual identification because other call types, such as approach-phase calls or social calls, are less consistent and would have high overlap in call metrics among some species (Britzke, Gillam, and Murray 2013; Reichert et al. 2018). A species was considered to be confidently identified if the call metrics were within the typical ranges observed for that species and if there were at least five (three for rare or quiet species, such as *Eumops perotis*) consecutive search-phase call pulses with even inter-pulse intervals from one individual with no interference from another bat (Reichert et al. 2018). Positively identified bat call were considered independent if they occurred >15 minutes apart. Using this process, a voucher file (i.e.,

one high quality, confidently identified recording per species per monitoring night; Reichert et al. 2018) was produced and used in analyses.

The expected regional pool of bat species for our study area depended on the geographic and elevation range of Arizona bat species during each season. Out of the 28 bat species recorded in Arizona, we expected 15 species to be present in the Phoenix metropolitan area, 11 of which were expected to be present year-round (Appendix A). It can be difficult to confidently, acoustically identify some species since multiple species can share similar call metrics. We therefore combined Nyctinomops femorosaccus and Nyctinomops macrotis calls into Nyctinomops sp., as the species are acoustically indistinguishable from each other. In addition, myotis bat species that produce calls within the 35-45 kHz range (i.e., *Myotis auriculus*, *Myotis ciliolabrum*, *Myotis occultus*, *Myotis velifer* and *Myotis volans*) were classified as "40 kHz Myotis" due to high overlap in call characteristics (Corcoran and Conner 2012; Reichert et al. 2018). Calls classified as 40 kHz myotis species are most likely *Myotis velifer*, as the other species are either more likely to occur outside of the study area or are more likely to be found at higher elevations (Appendix A). However, we still classified these calls as "40 kHz Myotis" since some of the species more likely to be found at higher elevations could potentially travel through the study area.

#### 3.4 Environmental and Landscape Variables

We evaluated two environmental variables that we expected to influence species detection probability: mintemp and moon. The variable "mintemp" was defined as the

average minimum temperature across the five survey nights, or occasions (Caryl et al. 2016; Thornton et al. 2020). In addition, the variable "moon" was defined as the average percent lunar illumination at 23:00 hours (UTC-7) averaged across the five occasions (Allen et al. 2009; NASA 2019; Scanlon and Petit 2008) It was hypothesized that these variables would influence species detection because bat species vary in their response to temperature and lunar illumination, with some species more sensitive to heat and high lunar illumination, and other species more tolerant of heat and high lunar illumination (Erickson and West 2002; Saldaña-Vázquez and Munguía-Rosas 2013; Scanlon and Petit 2008). We predicted that the bat community would either exhibit no relationship with temperature or a negative relationship with temperature during the summer season. In addition, if most species exhibit lunar phobia, then we expect the bat community to exhibit a negative relationship with lunar illumination.

In addition, we evaluated three landscape variables that we expected to influence the occupancy of each species, and thus species richness: urbanization, plant productivity, and distance to water. The variable "urbanization" was measured at multiple scales and was defined as the proportion of urbanization (impervious surface) within a buffer (i.e., 125, 250, 500, 1000 and 2000 m radius) associated with a site (X. Li 2015). To evaluate non-linear relationships with urbanization, we also evaluated the quadratic relationship for urbanization. In addition, the variable "plant productivity" was defined as the normalized difference in vegetation index (NDVI) associated with a site, averaged across the summer season, and was measured at multiple scales (i.e., 125, 250, 500, 1000 and 2000 m radius buffers). Lastly, using Google Earth (Google, Mountain View, CA) and 2015 NAIP imagery (Zhang and Turner II 2020), we identified perennial water sources that were >7 m in length or width, including swimming pools (Hall et al. 2016; Nystrom and Bennett 2019; Razgour, Korine, and Saltz 2010). Using this information, we evaluated the variable "water", which was the distance from each site to the nearest water source. It was hypothesized that plant productivity and water were important covariates to consider in part because it was assumed that insect abundance would be higher in areas with increased plant productivity (Haddad et al. 2001; Lightfoot and Whitford 1989; Siemann 1998) and increased water (Straka et al. 2020) which is particularly important for insectivorous bats. We considered evaluating a landscape heterogeneity metric "dissimilarity" (Farwell et al. 2020), but we excluded the covariate because it was highly correlated (r > 0.60) with other covariates across most scales.

To aid in model convergence, all continuous variables were standardized by subtracting the sample mean and dividing by the standard deviation (Schielzeth 2010). We evaluated the correlation between all variables using a Pearson's correlation test and we did not include covariates that were highly correlated (r > 0.60) in the same model.

#### 3.5 Statistical Analysis

For our analysis, we used detection/non-detection data, where a species was either detected (1) or not detected (0) during an occasion (e.g., night). There were a total of 5 occasions (i.e., nights) per site during the summer season.

We used a Dorazio-Royle (DR) multispecies occupancy community model with data augmentation to estimate (a) occupancy probability ( $\psi$ ; the probability that a site

was occupied or used by the species), and (b) detection probability (p; the probability of detecting the species given that it was present at a site) and (c) species richness (Nsite; species richness at a site) (Dorazio and Royle 2005; Kery and Royle 2015). The DR community model is a hierarchical model that treats species-specific parameters as random effects (Kery and Royle 2015). We included 4 augmented species (Kery and Royle 2015) to account for the 18 species (i.e., 15 expected species and 3 rare species; Appendix A) that could potentially be in the study area (Adams 2003; Arizona Game and Fish Department 2020; Bat Conservation International 2021). Rare species included the Allen's lappeted bat, silver-haired bat, and spotted bat, which are believed to either potentially occur in the study area or be infrequent visitors based on landscape characteristics, broad-scale range maps, or historical records (Adams 2003, Arizona Game and Fish Department 2020). We evaluated models using the JAGS program (Plummer 2003) and jagsUI package (Kellner, Kellner, and System Requirements 2021) in program R (R Development Core Team 2020).

For our model selection process, we first determined whether detection covariates (i.e., mintemp or moon) informed detection probability. We compared a model with constant detection probability (p(.)) to a model where detection probability varied with mintemp (p(mintemp)), moon (p(moon)), and mintemp and moon (p(mintemp + moon)). If p(mintemp), p(moon), or p(mintemp+moon) were more supported than p(.) based on the Deviance Information Criterion (DIC; Spiegehalter et al. 2014), then the detection variable(s) was included in all subsequent models. Next, we determined the best scale (i.e., 125-2000 m radius buffer) for urbanization and plant productivity by evaluating

which scale in univariate models was most supported based on DIC. To evaluate whether there was evidence of a non-linear relationship with urbanization, we compared model support for the linear and quadratic relationships for urbanization using DIC. Finally, using the best scales for each covariate, we evaluated all possible model combinations. We considered a variable as informative if it occurred in a model that outperformed the intercept-only model (i.e., model without covariates).

## 4. Results

Across our 50 sites during the summer season, we identified a total of 14 bat species during 250 nightly occasions, where the number of occasions bats were detected ranged from 3 to 184 (Table 1.1).

Dorazio-Royle (DR) community occupancy model results supported our hypothesis that species richness of bats would decline across the gradient of urbanization (Table 2.1; Figure 2.2; Appendix K). The bat community exhibited a negative relationship with urbanization ( $\beta$  = -1.35, se = 0.65), and urbanization was included in the top three models (Table 2.1; Figure 2.2).

In addition to urban intensity, the bat community was influenced by distance to water, but not plant productivity (Table 2.1). Consistent with predictions, the bat community exhibited a negative relationship with distance to water ( $\beta = -0.90$ , se = 0.36), indicating that species richness increased in areas closer to water (Table 2.1; Figure 2.3). However, counter to predictions, the bat community did not appear to be strongly influenced by plant productivity (Table 2.1). Plant productivity did not occur in the top

model, and the bat community did not exhibit a strong relationship with plant productivity ( $\beta = -0.33$ , se = 0.30) in the topmost model in which the variable occurred (Table 2.1).

DR community model results demonstrated that minimum temperature and lunar illumination had some effect on the detection probability of bats (Table 2.1). Minimum temperature and lunar illumination appeared to be important detection probability variables, where models including those variables outperformed the intercept model. However, counter to predictions, there were no strong relationships between the bat community and minimum temperature ( $\beta = 0.16$ , se = 0.22) or lunar illumination ( $\beta = -$ 0.19, se = 0.23), potentially due to different responses to the detection variables among species in the summer season (Chapter 1; Table 2.1).

# 5. Discussion

The bat community in our study exhibited a declining pattern of species richness across the gradient of urbanization, which is consistent with increasing urbanization exhibiting an overall negative effect on species richness of bats (Cavia, Cueto, and Suárez 2009; Chace and Walsh 2006; McKinney 2006, 2008; Piano et al. 2020). The declining pattern of species richness of bats was consistent with other research in the study area demonstrating that most bats (i.e., big/pocketed free tailed bat, canyon bat, hoary bat, pallid bat, silver-haired bat, western mastiff bat, and 40 kHz Myotis) were associated with wildland areas and low levels of urbanization, with only a few bats (i.e., big brown bat, Mexican free-tailed bat, western yellow bat, and Yuma myotis) exhibiting high use of areas of moderate and high levels of urbanization (Chapter 1). The negative effect of urbanization on species richness of bats is likely related to species traits, where most bats in the community tended to be sensitive to anthropogenic disturbances or have traits (i.e., weak flight and low mobility) that decrease the bats' ability to access available resources in urbanized areas (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Jung and Kalko 2011; Jung and Threlfall 2018).

Further, counter to predictions, species richness of bats did not peak at moderate levels of urban intensity, as predicted by the intermediate disturbance hypothesis (IDH), even though important resources (i.e., food and water) and environmental heterogeneity were assumed to be greater in moderately urbanized areas compared to wildland areas (Blair and Launer 1997; Connell 1978; Grimm et al. 2008; McKinney 2008). Further, in arid regions, urbanized areas can have greater plant productivity and water availability compared to wildland areas, particularly in the hot and dry summer season (Brown, Valone, and Curtin 1997; Faeth et al. 2005; Korine et al. 2015; Razgour, Korine, and Saltz 2010; Russo, Cistrone, and Jones 2012; Shochat et al. 2006). However, species richness may tend to decline across some disturbance gradients in more arid regions, opposed to exhibiting a hump shaped pattern in more mesic regions (Gao and Carmel 2020). Therefore, species richness of bats, and potentially other vertebrates, could be more likely to decrease across the gradient of urbanization in arid environments, despite limited resources in wildland areas and increased resources in urbanized environments during the hot and dry summer season.

In addition to urbanization, species richness of bats exhibited a negative relationship with increasing distance to water, demonstrating that species richness of bats was increased in areas closer to water. This is consistent with our expectations, as water can be an important resource for desert bat communities (Ancillotto et al. 2019; Korine et al. 2016; H. Li and Wilkins 2014; McCain 2007; Mendes et al. 2017; C. Threlfall et al. 2011) and to positively influence species richness of bats (Hawkins et al. 2003; Lisón and Calvo 2011). Counter to predictions, however, species richness of bats did not appear to be influenced by plant productivity. This was potentially due to differences in responses of bats to plant productivity among species in the summer season (Chapter 1), or due to plant productivity not being an effective proxy for food resources (i.e., insect abundance; Bollinger et al. 2020a, 2020b; Jaganmohan, Vailshery, and Nagendra 2013; Rowse et al. 2016).

There are several considerations when interpreting the results of this study. First, species richness was likely underestimated in wildland areas. For example, the rare species (i.e., Allen's lappeted bat, spotted bat, and silver-haired bat) that potentially occurred in our study area also tended to be associated with wildland areas (Appendix A; Adams 2003, Arizona Game and Fish Department 2020). Further, some bat species are difficult to detect with acoustic monitors, such as bats that produce low intensity (i.e., "quiet") echolocation calls (i.e., Allen's lappeted bat, California leaf-nosed bat, pallid bat, spotted bat, and Townsend's big-eared bat (Reichert et al. 2018). Additionally, the Allen's lappeted bat, pallid bat, spotted bat and Townsend's big-eared bat tended to associate more with wildland areas than more urbanized areas (Adams 2003, Arizona

Game and Fish Department 2020). Second, our study focused on the summer season, when the most bat species and detections occurred in the study area (Chapter 1, Table 1.1) and when resource availability was expected to exhibit the greatest differences between wildland and urbanized areas (Brown et al. 1997, Shochat 2006, Razgour et al. 2010, Russo et al. 2012, Korine et al. 2015). However, bat species occurred in the study area during other seasons (Chapter 1, Table 1.1), where it is possible that species richness of bats would exhibit an even stronger negative relationship with urbanization compared to the summer season, as bats are expected to exhibit their highest use of urbanized areas in the summer season (Korine et al. 2015; Razgour, Korine, and Saltz 2010; Shochat et al. 2006; Straka et al. 2020). However, species richness of bats could potentially increase in urbanized areas in cooler seasons, where temperatures are expected to be higher compared to wildland areas (Golden 2004; Grimm et al. 2008), which could potentially increase bat activity. Further, species richness could also potentially be relatively high in urbanized areas during the spring and fall seasons due to an increase in migratory species moving through the area (Cryan 2003). Third, precipitation from monsoon rains during the summer season (July-August) could potentially influence species richness across the gradient of urbanization. During this study, the monsoon season exhibited below average precipitation, and was classified as one of the driest summers during the last 100 years (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 2021). Thus, due to assumed limiting water and food resources, we would expect that bats might be more likely to increase their use of urbanized areas during the summer of this study, compared to years with above average summer

precipitation when wildland areas would be expected to exhibit greater water resources. Lastly, there are other community factors we were unable to measure that could influence species richness of bats across the gradient of urbanization, such as competition, species-interactions, and predator-prey relationships (Fox and Fox 2000; Sandom et al. 2013; Shurin and Allen 2001). For example, the Mexican free-tailed bat can exhibit high use in urbanized areas (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Bredt and Uieda 1996; Krauel and LeBuhn 2016), potentially competing with and excluding some species that could access available resources in urbanized areas, which could ultimately reduce species richness.

Consistent with other regions, species richness of bats declined across the gradient of urbanization in an arid region (Avila-Flores and Fenton 2005; Coleman and Barclay 2011; Hourigan, Johnson, and Robson 2006; Jung and Kalko 2011; Kurta and Teramino 1992),. This may be due to the majority of bats in the community being sensitive to anthropogenic disturbances and expressing traits that decrease their ability to access resources in urbanized areas. Therefore, the cost of urbanization appears to outweigh the benefits of bats obtaining resources in urbanized environments, even in an arid region where food and water resources can potentially be limiting in wildland areas during the hot and dry summer season. Ultimately, these results have important management and conservation implications. To increase species richness in urbanized areas, it is likely important to maintain food and water resources in urbanized areas (Ancillotto et al. 2019; de Araújo and Bernard 2016; Lepczyk et al. 2017) and landscape connectivity between wildland and urbanized areas, such as by maintaining flyways with low anthropogenic disturbance (i.e., light and noise pollution, human activity, and road density) (Bazelman 2016; Berthinussen and Altringham 2012; Bunkley et al. 2015; Frey-Ehrenbold et al. 2013; Haddock et al. 2019; Hale et al. 2012; Russo and Ancillotto 2015; Schaub, Ostwald, and Siemers 2008). In addition, to maximize species richness in wildland areas, large areas of high-quality undeveloped habitat with low anthropogenic disturbance and water sources should be preserved (Collas et al. 2017; Johnson, Gates, and Ford 2008; Krauel and LeBuhn 2016).

Table 2.1: Dorazio-Royle (DR) community occupancy model results for the bat community in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona in the summer of 2019. Parameters include detection probability (p) and occupancy probability (psi). Models include the intercept-only model (p(.) psi (.)) and the variables include detection probability variables minimum seasonal temperature (T) and average percent moon illumination (M), and occupancy variables include urbanization (U), plant productivity (P), and distance to water (W). The most supported spatial scale (i.e., 125- 2000 m radius buffers) for urbanization and plant productivity follows the associated variable in the model description. Model results include the number of terms in the model (K), DIC value, delta DIC ( $\Delta$ DIC), and community-average beta estimates for each variable, followed by the associated standard error (se).

								р						psi
						Т		Μ		U		Р		W
	Model	Κ	DIC	ΔDIC	β	se	β	se		β se	β	se	β	se
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + W)	6	1655.79	0.00	0.16	0.22	-0.19	0.23	-1.3	5 0.65			-0.90	0.36
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + P.125 + W)	7	1659.21	3.42	0.17	0.21	-0.23	0.23	-1.2	7 0.68	-0.33	0.30	-0.03	3.13
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000)	5	1676.71	20.92	0.15	0.21	-0.28	0.25	-1.0	1 0.67				
	p(T + M) psi(.)	4	1691.95	36.16	0.06	0.20	-0.05	0.21						
55	p(T + M) psi(W)	5	1699.68	43.89	0.09	0.20	-0.01	0.20					-0.43	0.33
	p(T + M) psi(P.125)	5	1705.57	49.78	0.08	0.19	-0.09	0.20			0.51	0.18		
	p(T + M) psi(P.125 + W)	6	1718.54	62.75	0.12	0.20	-0.03	0.20			0.05	0.23	-0.41	0.34
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + P.125)	6	1723.67	67.88	0.16	0.21	-0.29	0.25	-1.0	7 0.72	0.25	0.28		
	p(.) psi(.)	2	1770.34	114.55										



Figure 2.1: Fifty sampling locations (black circles) along the gradient of urban intensity from wildland areas (blue) to highly urbanized areas (red), in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona.



Figure 2.2: Predicted species richness of bats decreases along the gradient of urbanization (based on the top Dorazio-Royle (DR) community model) in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona in the summer of 2019. The error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 2.3: Predicted species richness of bats decreases with increasing distance to water (based on the top Dorazio-Royle (DR) community model) in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona in the summer of 2019. The error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

#### REFERENCES

- Acebes, Pablo, Juan E Malo, and Juan Traba. 2013. "Trade-offs between food availability and predation risk in desert environments: the case of polygynous monomorphic guanaco (Lama guanicoe)." *Journal of arid environments* 97: 136-142.
- Adams, Rick A. 2003. *Bats of the Rocky Mountain West: Natural History, Ecology, and Conservation*. University Press of Colorado.
- Agosta, Salvatore J. 2002. "Habitat use, diet and roost selection by the big brown bat (Eptesicus fuscus) in North America: a case for conserving an abundant species." *Mammal Review* 32 (3): 179-198.
- Allen, Louise C, Amy S Turmelle, Mary T Mendonça, Kristen J Navara, Thomas H Kunz, and Gary F McCracken. 2009. "Roosting ecology and variation in adaptive and innate immune system function in the Brazilian free-tailed bat (Tadarida brasiliensis)." *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 179 (3): 315.
- Ammerman, Loren K, Christine L Hice, and David J Schmidly. 2012. Bats of Texas. Vol. 43. Texas A&M University Press.
- Ancillotto, L, L Bosso, VB Salinas-Ramos, and D Russo. 2019. "The importance of ponds for the conservation of bats in urban landscapes." *Landscape and Urban Planning* 190: 103607.
- Angold, PG, Jon P Sadler, Mark O Hill, Andrew Pullin, Steven Rushton, K Austin, Emma Small, B Wood, Richard Wadsworth, and Roy Sanderson. 2006.
  "Biodiversity in urban habitat patches." *Science of the Total environment* 360 (1-3): 196-204.
- Appel, Giulliana, Adrià López-Baucells, William Ernest-Magnusson, and Paulo Estefano D Bobrowiec. 2017. "Aerial insectivorous bat activity in relation to moonlight intensity." *Mammalian Biology* 85 (1): 37-46.
- Appel, Giulliana, Adrià López-Baucells, William Ernest Magnusson, and Paulo Estefano D Bobrowiec. 2019. "Temperature, rainfall, and moonlight intensity effects on activity of tropical insectivorous bats." *Journal of Mammalogy* 100 (6): 1889-1900.

Arizona Game and Fish Department. 2020.

---. 2021. "Living With Bats." https://www.azgfd.com/wildlife/livingwith/bats/.

Arnold, Todd W. 2010. "Uninformative parameters and model selection using Akaike's Information Criterion." *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 74 (6): 1175-1178.

- Avila-Flores, Rafael, and M Brock Fenton. 2005. "Use of spatial features by foraging insectivorous bats in a large urban landscape." *Journal of mammalogy* 86 (6): 1193-1204.
- Bang, Christofer, and Stanley H Faeth. 2011. "Variation in arthropod communities in response to urbanization: seven years of arthropod monitoring in a desert city." *Landscape and Urban Planning* 103 (3-4): 383-399.
- Barré, Kévin, Kamiel Spoelstra, Yves Bas, Samuel Challéat, R Kiri Ing, Clémentine Azam, Georges Zissis, Dany Lapostolle, Christian Kerbiriou, and Isabelle Le Viol. 2021. "Artificial light may change flight patterns of bats near bridges along urban waterways." *Animal Conservation* 24 (2): 259-267.
- Bat Conservation International. 2021. "Bat Profiles." <u>https://www.batcon.org/about-bats/bat-profiles/?fwp\_location=arizona</u>.
- Bates, Adam J., Jon P. Sadler, Dave Grundy, Norman Lowe, George Davis, David Baker, Malcolm Bridge et al. 2014. "Garden and landscape-scale correlates of moths of differing conservation status: significant effects of urbanization and habitat diversity." *PLoS One* 9 (1): e86925.
- Bazelman, Tracy C. 2016. "Effects of urbanization on bat habitat use in the Phoenix metropolitan region, Arizona, USA: A multi-scale landscape analysis." Arizona State University.
- Bender, Michael J, and Gregory D Hartman. 2015. "Bat activity increases with barometric pressure and temperature during autumn in central Georgia." *Southeastern naturalist* 14 (2): 231-242.
- Berthinussen, Anna, and John Altringham. 2012. "Do bat gantries and underpasses help bats cross roads safely?" *PloS one* 7 (6): e38775.
- Blair, Robert B. 1996. "Land use and avian species diversity along an urban gradient." *Ecological applications* 6 (2): 506-519.
- ---. 2001. "Birds and butterflies along urban gradients in two ecoregions of the United States: is urbanization creating a homogeneous fauna?" In *Biotic homogenization*, 33-56. Springer.
- Blair, Robert B, and Alan E Launer. 1997. "Butterfly diversity and human land use: Species assemblages along an urban grandient." *Biological conservation* 80 (1): 113-125.
- Bolliger, Janine, Tom Hennet, Beat Wermelinger, Stephan Blum, Jörg Haller, and Martin K Obrist. 2020. "Low impact of two LED colors on nocturnal insect abundance

and bat activity in a peri-urban environment." *Journal of Insect Conservation* 24 (4): 625-635.

- Bolliger, Janine, Tom Hennet, Beat Wermelinger, Ruedi Bösch, Robert Pazur, Stephan Blum, Jörg Haller, and Martin K Obrist. 2020. "Effects of traffic-regulated street lighting on nocturnal insect abundance and bat activity." *Basic and Applied Ecology* 47: 44-56.
- Bondarenco, Artiom, Gerhard Körtner, and Fritz Geiser. 2013. "Some like it cold: summer torpor by freetail bats in the Australian arid zone." *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 183 (8): 1113-1122.
- ---. 2014. "Hot bats: extreme thermal tolerance in a desert heat wave." *Naturwissenschaften* 101 (8): 679-685.
- ---. 2016. "How to keep cool in a hot desert: torpor in two species of free-ranging bats in summer." *Temperature* 3 (3): 476-483.
- Braun, Janet K, Blia Yang, Sara B González-Pérez, and Michael A Mares. 2015. "Myotis yumanensis (Chiroptera: Vespertilionidae)." *Mammalian Species* 47 (918): 1-14.
- Bredt, A, and W Uieda. 1996. "Bats from urban and rural environments of the Distrito Federal, mid-western Brazil." *Chiroptera Neotropical* 2 (2): 54-57.
- Britzke, Eric R, EH Gillam, and KL Murray. 2013. "Current state of understanding of ultrasonic detectors for the study of bat ecology." *Acta Theriologica* 58 (2): 109-117.
- Brown, James H, Thomas J Valone, and Charles G Curtin. 1997. "Reorganization of an arid ecosystem in response to recent climate change." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 94 (18): 9729-9733.
- Bunkley, Jessie P, Christopher JW McClure, Nathan J Kleist, Clinton D Francis, and Jesse R Barber. 2015. "Anthropogenic noise alters bat activity levels and echolocation calls." *Global Ecology and Conservation* 3: 62-71.
- Buyantuyev, Alexander, Jianguo Wu, and Corinna Gries. 2010. "Multiscale analysis of the urbanization pattern of the Phoenix metropolitan landscape of USA: time, space and thematic resolution." *Landscape and Urban Planning* 94 (3-4): 206-217.
- Callaghan, Corey T, Richard E Major, William K Cornwell, Alistair GB Poore, John H Wilshire, and Mitchell B Lyons. 2020. "A continental measure of urbanness predicts avian response to local urbanization." *Ecography* 43 (4): 528-538.

- Caryl, Fiona M, Linda F Lumsden, Rodney van der Ree, and Brendan A Wintle. 2016.
   "Functional responses of insectivorous bats to increasing housing density support 'land-sparing'rather than 'land-sharing'urban growth strategies." *Journal of Applied Ecology* 53 (1): 191-201.
- Cavia, Regino, Gerardo Rubén Cueto, and Olga Virginia Suárez. 2009. "Changes in rodent communities according to the landscape structure in an urban ecosystem." Landscape and Urban Planning 90 (1-2): 11-19.
- Chace, Jameson F, and John J Walsh. 2006. "Urban effects on native avifauna: a review." *Landscape and urban planning* 74 (1): 46-69.
- Chiba, Satoshi. 2007. "Species richness patterns along environmental gradients in island land molluscan fauna." *Ecology* 88 (7): 1738-1746.
- Coleman, Joanna L, and Robert MR Barclay. 2011. "Influence of urbanization on demography of little brown bats (Myotis lucifugus) in the prairies of North America." *PLoS One* 6 (5): e20483.
- Collas, Lydia, Rhys E Green, Alexander Ross, Josie H Wastell, and Andrew Balmford. 2017. "Urban development, land sharing and land sparing: the importance of considering restoration." *Journal of applied ecology* 54 (6): 1865-1873.
- Conenna, Irene, Adrià López-Baucells, Ricardo Rocha, Simon Ripperger, and Mar Cabeza. 2019. "Movement seasonality in a desert-dwelling bat revealed by miniature GPS loggers." *Movement ecology* 7 (1): 1-10.
- Connell, Joseph H. 1978. "Diversity in tropical rain forests and coral reefs." *Science* 199 (4335): 1302-1310.
- Corcoran, Aaron J, and William E Conner. 2012. "Sonar jamming in the field: effectiveness and behavior of a unique prey defense." *Journal of Experimental Biology* 215 (24): 4278-4287.
- Currie, David J, Anthony P Francis, and Jeremy T Kerr. 1999. "Some general propositions about the study of spatial patterns of species richness." *Ecoscience* 6 (3): 392-399.
- Cryan, Paul M. 2003. "Seasonal distribution of migratory tree bats (Lasiurus and Lasionycteris) in North America." *Journal of mammalogy* 84 (2): 579-593.
- Czenze, ZJ, S Naidoo, A Kotze, and AE McKechnie. 2020. "Bat thermoregulation in the heat: Limits to evaporative cooling capacity in three southern African bats." *Journal of thermal biology* 89: 102542.
- Dalhoumi, Ridha, Nicolas Morellet, Patricia Aissa, and Stéphane Aulagnier. 2018.
  "Seasonal activity pattern and habitat use by the Kuhl's pipistrelle (Pipistrellus kuhlii) in an arid environment." *European Journal of Wildlife Research* 64 (3): 1-12.
- Dar, Afaq Ahmad, and Khowaja Jamal. 2021. "The decline of moths globally: A review of possible causes." *Munis Entomology & Zoology* 16 (1): 317-326.
- de Araújo, Mona Lisa Veríssimo Silva, and Enrico Bernard. 2016. "Green remnants are hotspots for bat activity in a large Brazilian urban area." Urban Ecosystems 19 (1): 287-296.
- Donovan, TM. 2007. "Exercises in occupancy modeling and estimation." <u>http://www</u>. uvm. edu/envnr/vtcfwru/spreadsheets/occupancy. htm.
- Dorazio, Robert M, and J Andrew Royle. 2005. "Estimating size and composition of biological communities by modeling the occurrence of species." *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 100 (470): 389-398.
- Ellin, Nan. 2010. "Canalscape: practising integral urbanism in metropolitan Phoenix." *Journal of Urban Design* 15 (4): 599-610.
- Erickson, Janet L, and Stephen D West. 2002. "The influence of regional climate and nightly weather conditions on activity patterns of insectivorous bats." *Acta Chiropterologica* 4 (1): 17-24.
- Faeth, Stanley H, Paige S Warren, Eyal Shochat, and Wendy A Marussich. 2005. "Trophic dynamics in urban communities." *BioScience* 55 (5): 399-407.
- Falk, John Howard. 1976. "Energetics of a suburban lawn ecosystem." *Ecology* 57 (1): 141-150.
- Farwell, Laura S, Paul R Elsen, Elena Razenkova, Anna M Pidgeon, and Volker C Radeloff. 2020. "Habitat heterogeneity captured by 30-m resolution satellite image texture predicts bird richness across the United States." *Ecological Applications* 30 (8): e02157.
- Fischer, Jason D, Sarah C Schneider, Adam A Ahlers, and James R Miller. 2015. "Categorizing wildlife responses to urbanization and conservation implications of terminology." *Conservation Biology* 29 (4): 1246-1248.
- Fox, Barry J, and Marilyn D Fox. 2000. "Factors determining mammal species richness on habitat islands and isolates: habitat diversity, disturbance, species interactions and guild assembly rules." *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 9 (1): 19-37.

- Frey, Jennifer K, SO MacDonald, and JA Cook. 2006. "Checklist of New Mexico Mammals." *Mus. Southwestern Biol., Univ. New Mexico, Albuquerque.*
- Frey-Ehrenbold, Annie, Fabio Bontadina, Raphaël Arlettaz, and Martin K Obrist. 2013.
   "Landscape connectivity, habitat structure and activity of bat guilds in farmlanddominated matrices." *Journal of Applied Ecology* 50 (1): 252-261.
- Gao, Junjing, and Yohay Carmel. 2020. "Can the intermediate disturbance hypothesis explain grazing-diversity relations at a global scale?" *Oikos* 129 (4): 493-502.
- Gedir, Jay V, James W Cain III, Tyson L Swetnam, Paul R Krausman, and John R Morgart. 2020. "Extreme drought and adaptive resource selection by a desert mammal." *Ecosphere* 11 (7): e03175.
- Gehrt, Stanley D, and James E Chelsvig. 2004. "Species-specific patterns of bat activity in an urban landscape." *Ecological Applications* 14 (2): 625-635.
- Godvik, Inger Maren Rivrud, Leif Egil Loe, Jon Olav Vik, VebjØrn Veiberg, Rolf Langvatn, and Atle Mysterud. 2009. "Temporal scales, trade-offs, and functional responses in red deer habitat selection." *Ecology* 90 (3): 699-710.
- Golden, Jay S. 2004. "The built environment induced urban heat island effect in rapidly urbanizing arid regions—a sustainable urban engineering complexity." *Environmental Sciences* 1 (4): 321-349.
- Grimm, Nancy B, Stanley H Faeth, Nancy E Golubiewski, Charles L Redman, Jianguo Wu, Xuemei Bai, and John M Briggs. 2008. "Global change and the ecology of cities." *science* 319 (5864): 756-760.
- Grimm, Nancy B, and Charles L Redman. 2004. "Approaches to the study of urban ecosystems: The case of Central Arizona—Phoenix." *Urban ecosystems* 7 (3): 199-213.
- Grindal, SD, JL Morissette, and RM Brigham. 1999. "Concentration of bat activity in riparian habitats over an elevational gradient." *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 77 (6): 972-977.
- Haddad, Nick M, David Tilman, John Haarstad, Mark Ritchie, and Johannes MH Knops.
   2001. "Contrasting effects of plant richness and composition on insect communities: a field experiment." *The American Naturalist* 158 (1): 17-35.
- Haddock, Joanna K, Caragh G Threlfall, Bradley Law, and Dieter F Hochuli. 2019.
  "Light pollution at the urban forest edge negatively impacts insectivorous bats." *Biological conservation* 236: 17-28.

- Hale, James D, Alison J Fairbrass, Tom J Matthews, and Jon P Sadler. 2012. "Habitat composition and connectivity predicts bat presence and activity at foraging sites in a large UK conurbation." *PloS one* 7 (3): e33300.
- Hall, Lucas K, Connor T Lambert, Randy T Larsen, Robert N Knight, and Brock R McMillan. 2016. "Will climate change leave some desert bat species thirstier than others?" *Biological Conservation* 201: 284-292.
- Halpin, Patricia M. 2000. "Habitat use by an intertidal salt-marsh fish: trade-offs between predation and growth." *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 198: 203-214.
- Hawkins, Bradford A, Richard Field, Howard V Cornell, David J Currie, Jean-François Guégan, Dawn M Kaufman, Jeremy T Kerr, Gary G Mittelbach, Thierry Oberdorff, and Eileen M O'Brien. 2003. "Energy, water, and broad-scale geographic patterns of species richness." *Ecology* 84 (12): 3105-3117.
- Hawkins, Bradford A, Eric E Porter, and José Alexandre Felizola Diniz-Filho. 2003.
   "Productivity and history as predictors of the latitudinal diversity gradient of terrestrial birds." *Ecology* 84 (6): 1608-1623.
- Hoglander, Cerissa, Brett G Dickson, Steven S Rosenstock, and Jesse J Anderson. 2015.
   "Landscape models of space use by desert bighorn sheep in the Sonoran Desert of southwestern Arizona." *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 79 (1): 77-91.
- Hourigan, CL, C Johnson, and SKA Robson. 2006. "The structure of a micro-bat community in relation to gradients of environmental variation in a tropical urban area." *Urban Ecosystems* 9 (2): 67-82.
- Jaganmohan, Madhumitha, Lionel Sujay Vailshery, and Harini Nagendra. 2013. "Patterns of insect abundance and distribution in urban domestic gardens in Bangalore, India." *Diversity* 5 (4): 767-778.
- Johnson, Joshua B, J Edward Gates, and W Mark Ford. 2008. "Distribution and activity of bats at local and landscape scales within a rural–urban gradient." *Urban Ecosystems* 11 (2): 227-242.
- Jones, Gareth, David S Jacobs, Thomas H Kunz, Michael R Willig, and Paul A Racey. 2009. "Carpe noctem: the importance of bats as bioindicators." *Endangered species research* 8 (1-2): 93-115.
- Jung, Kirsten, and Elisabeth KV Kalko. 2011. "Adaptability and vulnerability of high flying Neotropical aerial insectivorous bats to urbanization." *Diversity and distributions* 17 (2): 262-274.

- Jung, Kirsten, and Caragh Grace Threlfall. 2018. "Trait-dependent tolerance of bats to urbanization: a global meta-analysis." *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 285 (1885): 20181222.
- Kellner, Ken, Maintainer Ken Kellner, and JAGS System Requirements. 2021. "Package 'jagsUI'."
- Kery, M., and J.A. Royle. 2015. *Applied Hierarchical Modeling in Ecology: Analysis of distribution, abundance and species richness in R and BUGS: Volume 1:Prelude and Static Models*. Elsevier Science.
- Klingbeil, Brian T, and Michael R Willig. 2009. "Guild-specific responses of bats to landscape composition and configuration in fragmented Amazonian rainforest." *Journal of applied ecology* 46 (1): 203-213.
- Koh, Chao-Nien, Pei-Fen Lee, and Ruey-Shing Lin. 2006. "Bird species richness patterns of northern Taiwan: primary productivity, human population density, and habitat heterogeneity." *Diversity and Distributions* 12 (5): 546-554.
- Korine, Carmi, Amanda M Adams, Uzi Shamir, and Amit Gross. 2015. "Effect of water quality on species richness and activity of desert-dwelling bats." *Mammalian Biology* 80 (3): 185-190.
- Korine, Carmi, Rick Adams, Danilo Russo, Marina Fisher-Phelps, and David Jacobs.
  2016. "Bats and water: anthropogenic alterations threaten global bat populations." In *Bats in the Anthropocene: Conservation of bats in a changing world*, 215-241.
  Springer, Cham.
- Korine, Carmi, and Berry Pinshow. 2004. "Guild structure, foraging space use, and distribution in a community of insectivorous bats in the Negev Desert." *Journal of Zoology* 262 (2): 187-196.
- Krauel, Jennifer J, and Gretchen LeBuhn. 2016. "Patterns of bat distribution and foraging activity in a highly urbanized temperate environment." *PloS one* 11 (12): e0168927.
- Krausman, Paul R. 1999. "Some basic principles of habitat use." *Grazing behavior of livestock and wildlife* 70: 85-90.
- Kurta, Allen, and Joseph A Teramino. 1992. "Bat community structure in an urban park." *Ecography* 15 (3): 257-261.
- Laake, Jeff, and Eric Rexstad. 2008. "RMark–an alternative approach to building linear models in MARK." *Program MARK: a gentle introduction*: C1-C113.

- Lang, Alexander B, Elisabeth KV Kalko, Heinrich Römer, Cecile Bockholdt, and Dina KN Dechmann. 2006. "Activity levels of bats and katydids in relation to the lunar cycle." *Oecologia* 146 (4): 659-666.
- Laverty, Theresa M, and Joel Berger. 2021. "Indirect effects of African megaherbivore conservation on bat diversity in the world's oldest desert." *Conservation Biology*.
- Lepczyk, Christopher A, Myla FJ Aronson, Karl L Evans, Mark A Goddard, Susannah B Lerman, and J Scott MacIvor. 2017. "Biodiversity in the city: fundamental questions for understanding the ecology of urban green spaces for biodiversity conservation." *BioScience* 67 (9): 799-807.
- Leroux, Shawn J. 2019. "On the prevalence of uninformative parameters in statistical models applying model selection in applied ecology." *PLoS One* 14 (2): e0206711.
- Li, Han, and Kenneth T Wilkins. 2014. "Patch or mosaic: bat activity responds to finescale urban heterogeneity in a medium-sized city in the United States." *Urban Ecosystems* 17 (4): 1013-1031.
- Li, Xiaoxiao. 2015. "CAP LTER land cover classification using 2010 National Agriculture Imagery Program (NAIP) Imagery."
- Lightfoot, David C, and Walter G Whitford. 1989. "Interplant variation in creosotebush foliage characteristics and canopy arthropods." *Oecologia* 81 (2): 166-175.
- Lintott, Paul R, Kate Barlow, Nils Bunnefeld, Philip Briggs, Clara Gajas Roig, and Kirsty J Park. 2016. "Differential responses of cryptic bat species to the urban landscape." *Ecology and Evolution* 6 (7): 2044-2052.
- Lisón, F, and JF Calvo. 2011. "The significance of water infrastructures for the conservation of bats in a semiarid Mediterranean landscape." *Animal Conservation* 14 (5): 533-541.
- Loumassine, Hibat Ellah, Nadège Bonnot, Benjamin Allegrini, Mohammed Lamine Bendjeddou, Farid Bounaceur, and Stéphane Aulagnier. 2020. "How arid environments affect spatial and temporal activity of bats." *Journal of arid environments* 180: 104206.
- Luck, Matthew, and Jianguo Wu. 2002. "A gradient analysis of urban landscape pattern: a case study from the Phoenix metropolitan region, Arizona, USA." *Landscape ecology* 17 (4): 327-339.
- MacKenzie, Darryl I, James D Nichols, James E Hines, Melinda G Knutson, and Alan B Franklin. 2003. "Estimating site occupancy, colonization, and local extinction when a species is detected imperfectly." *Ecology* 84 (8): 2200-2207.

- MacKenzie, Darryl I, James D Nichols, J Andrew Royle, Kenneth H Pollock, Larissa Bailey, and James E Hines. 2017. *Occupancy estimation and modeling: inferring patterns and dynamics of species occurrence*. Elsevier.
- Marshal, Jason P, Vernon C Bleich, Paul R Krausman, Mickey Lynn Reed, and Nancy G Andrew. 2006. "Factors affecting habitat use and distribution of desert mule deer in an arid environment." *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 34 (3): 609-619.
- Mayor, Stephen J, James F Cahill Jr, Fangliang He, and Stan Boutin. 2015. "Scaling disturbance instead of richness to better understand anthropogenic impacts on biodiversity." *PLOS one* 10 (5): e0125579.
- McCain, Christy M. 2007. "Could temperature and water availability drive elevational species richness patterns? A global case study for bats." *Global Ecology and biogeography* 16 (1): 1-13.
- McCain, Christy M, Sarah RB King, Tim Szewczyk, and Jan Beck. 2018. "Small mammal species richness is directly linked to regional productivity, but decoupled from food resources, abundance, or habitat complexity." *Journal of Biogeography* 45 (11): 2533-2545.
- McDonald, Robert I, Peter Kareiva, and Richard TT Forman. 2008. "The implications of current and future urbanization for global protected areas and biodiversity conservation." *Biological conservation* 141 (6): 1695-1703.
- McDonald, Robert I, Peter J Marcotullio, and Burak Güneralp. 2013. "Urbanization and global trends in biodiversity and ecosystem services." In *Urbanization, biodiversity and ecosystem services: Challenges and opportunities*, 31-52. Springer, Dordrecht.
- McDonnell, Mark J, and Amy K Hahs. 2008. "The use of gradient analysis studies in advancing our understanding of the ecology of urbanizing landscapes: current status and future directions." *Landscape Ecology* 23 (10): 1143-1155.
- McDonnell, Mark J, and Stewart TA Pickett. 1990. "Ecosystem structure and function along urban-rural gradients: an unexploited opportunity for ecology." *Ecology*: 1232-1237.
- McKinney, Michael L. 2002. "Urbanization, Biodiversity, and ConservationThe impacts of urbanization on native species are poorly studied, but educating a highly urbanized human population about these impacts can greatly improve species conservation in all ecosystems." *BioScience* 52 (10): 883-890.
- ---. 2006. "Urbanization as a major cause of biotic homogenization." *Biological conservation* 127 (3): 247-260.

- ---. 2008. "Effects of urbanization on species richness: a review of plants and animals." *Urban ecosystems* 11 (2): 161-176.
- Medley, Kimberly E, Mark J McDonnell, and Steward TA Pickett. 1995. "Forestlandscape structure along an urban-to-rural gradient." *The Professional Geographer* 47 (2): 159-168.
- Mendes, Eduardo S, Carlos Fonseca, Sara F Marques, Daniela Maia, and Maria João Ramos Pereira. 2017. "Bat richness and activity in heterogeneous landscapes: guild-specific and scale-dependent?" *Landscape ecology* 32 (2): 295-311.
- Meyer, Gretchen A, Joseph A Senulis, and James A Reinartz. 2016. "Effects of temperature and availability of insect prey on bat emergence from hibernation in spring." *Journal of Mammalogy* 97 (6): 1623-1633.
- Mysterud, Atle, and Rolf Anker Ims. 1998. "Functional responses in habitat use: Availability influences relative use in trade-off situations." *Ecology* 79 (4): 1435-1441.
- Nakashima, Yoshihiro. 2020. "Potentiality and limitations of N-mixture and Royle-Nichols models to estimate animal abundance based on noninstantaneous point surveys." *Population Ecology* 62 (1): 151-157.
- NASA. 2019. Moon Phase and Libration. NASA Scientific Visualization Studio.
- Neece, Benjamin D, Susan C Loeb, and David S Jachowski. 2018. "Variation in regional and landscape effects on occupancy of temperate bats in the southeastern US." *PloS one* 13 (11): e0206857.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. 2021. "Noaa Online Weather Data (nowdata): Interactive Data Query System : Public Fact Sheet." Washington, D.C. https://www.weather.gov/wrh/Climate?wfo=psr.
- Norberg, Ulla M, and Jeremy MV Rayner. 1987. "Ecological morphology and flight in bats (Mammalia; Chiroptera): wing adaptations, flight performance, foraging strategy and echolocation." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B, Biological Sciences* 316 (1179): 335-427.
- Noy-Meir, Imanuel. 1973. "Desert ecosystems: environment and producers." *Annual* review of ecology and systematics 4 (1): 25-51.
- Nystrom, Gunnar S, and Victoria J Bennett. 2019. "The importance of residential swimming pools as an urban water source for bats." *Journal of Mammalogy* 100 (2): 394-400.

- Patriquin, Krista J, Cylita Guy, Joshua Hinds, and John M Ratcliffe. 2019. "Male and female bats differ in their use of a large urban park." *Journal of Urban Ecology* 5 (1): juz015.
- Piano, Elena, Caroline Souffreau, Thomas Merckx, Lisa F Baardsen, Thierry Backeljau, Dries Bonte, Kristien I Brans, Marie Cours, Maxime Dahirel, and Nicolas Debortoli. 2020. "Urbanization drives cross-taxon declines in abundance and diversity at multiple spatial scales." *Global Change Biology* 26 (3): 1196-1211.
- Plummer, Martyn. 2003. "JAGS: A program for analysis of Bayesian graphical models using Gibbs sampling." Proceedings of the 3rd international workshop on distributed statistical computing.
- R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Racey, GD, and DL Euler. 1982. "Small mammal and habitat response to shoreline cottage development in central Ontario." *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 60 (5): 865-880.
- Razgour, Orly, Carmi Korine, and David Saltz. 2010. "Pond characteristics as determinants of species diversity and community composition in desert bats." *Animal Conservation* 13 (5): 505-513.
- Rehnus, Maik, Veronika Braunisch, Klaus Hackländer, Lea Jost, and Kurt Bollmann. 2016. "The seasonal trade-off between food and cover in the Alpine mountain hare (Lepus timidus)." *European journal of wildlife research* 62 (1): 11-21.
- Reichert, Brian, Cori Lausen, Susan Loeb, Ted Weller, Ryan Allen, Eric Britzke, Tara Hohoff, Jeremy Siemers, Braden Burkholder, and Carl Herzog. 2018. "A guide to processing bat acoustic data for the North American Bat Monitoring Program (NABat)." USGS 2018: 1-43.
- Remington, Stephanie. 2006. "Bat surveys of the Puente Hills." *Puente Hills Landfill Native Habitat Preservation Authority Final Report.*
- Roach, W John, James B Heffernan, Nancy B Grimm, J Ramón Arrowsmith, Chris Eisinger, and Tyler Rychener. 2008. "Unintended consequences of urbanization for aquatic ecosystems: a case study from the Arizona desert." *BioScience* 58 (8): 715-727.
- Rochlin, Ilia, Ary Faraji, Dominick V Ninivaggi, Christopher M Barker, and A Marm Kilpatrick. 2016. "Anthropogenic impacts on mosquito populations in North America over the past century." *Nature communications* 7 (1): 1-14.

- Rodríguez-Aguilar, Guillermo, Carmen Lorena Orozco-Lugo, Ivar Vleut, and Luis-Bernardo Vazquez. 2017. "Influence of urbanization on the occurrence and activity of aerial insectivorous bats." *Urban ecosystems* 20 (2): 477-488.
- Rowse, EG, Daniel Lewanzik, EL Stone, S Harris, and G Jones. 2016. "Dark matters: the effects of artificial lighting on bats." In *Bats in the Anthropocene: Conservation of bats in a changing world*, 187-213. Springer, Cham.
- Royle, J Andrew, and James D Nichols. 2003. "Estimating abundance from repeated presence–absence data or point counts." *Ecology* 84 (3): 777-790.
- Rubin, Esther S, Walter M Boyce, Chris J Stermer, and Steven G Torres. 2002. "Bighorn sheep habitat use and selection near an urban environment." *Biological Conservation* 104 (2): 251-263.
- Russo, Danilo, and Leonardo Ancillotto. 2015. "Sensitivity of bats to urbanization: a review." *Mammalian Biology* 80 (3): 205-212.
- Russo, Danilo, Luca Cistrone, and Gareth Jones. 2012. "Sensory ecology of water detection by bats: a field experiment." *PLoS One* 7 (10): e48144.
- Sachanowicz, Konrad, Mateusz Ciechanowski, Piotr Tryjanowski, and Jakub Z Kosicki. 2019. "Wintering range of Pipistrellus nathusii (Chiroptera) in Central Europe: has the species extended to the north-east using urban heat islands?" *Mammalia* 83 (3): 260-271.
- Saldaña-Vázquez, Romeo A, and Miguel A Munguía-Rosas. 2013. "Lunar phobia in bats and its ecological correlates: a meta-analysis." *Mammalian Biology* 78 (3): 216-219.
- Sandom, Christopher, Lars Dalby, Camilla Fløjgaard, W Daniel Kissling, Jonathan Lenoir, Brody Sandel, Kristian Trøjelsgaard, Rasmus Ejrnæs, and Jens-Christian Svenning. 2013. "Mammal predator and prey species richness are strongly linked at macroscales." *Ecology* 94 (5): 1112-1122.
- Savard, Jean-Pierre L, Philippe Clergeau, and Gwenaelle Mennechez. 2000.
   "Biodiversity concepts and urban ecosystems." *Landscape and urban planning* 48 (3-4): 131-142.
- Scanlon, Annette T, and Sophie Petit. 2008. "Effects of site, time, weather and light on urban bat activity and richness: considerations for survey effort." *Wildlife Research* 35 (8): 821-834.
- Schaub, Andrea, Joachim Ostwald, and Björn M Siemers. 2008. "Foraging bats avoid noise." *Journal of Experimental Biology* 211 (19): 3174-3180.

- Schielzeth, Holger. 2010. "Simple means to improve the interpretability of regression coefficients." *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 1 (2): 103-113.
- Schimpp, Sarah A, Han Li, and Matina C Kalcounis-Rueppell. 2018. "Determining species specific nightly bat activity in sites with varying urban intensity." Urban Ecosystems 21 (3): 541-550.
- Schoeman, MC. 2016. "Light pollution at stadiums favors urban exploiter bats." *Animal Conservation* 19 (2): 120-130.
- Seto, Karen C, Susan Parnell, and Thomas Elmqvist. 2013. "A global outlook on urbanization." In Urbanization, biodiversity and ecosystem services: Challenges and opportunities, 1-12. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Shapiro, Julie Teresa, Ara Monadjem, Timo Röder, and Robert A McCleery. 2020.
  "Response of bat activity to land cover and land use in savannas is scale-, season-, and guild-specific." *Biological Conservation* 241: 108245.
- Shochat, Eyal, Paige S Warren, Stanley H Faeth, Nancy E McIntyre, and Diane Hope. 2006. "From patterns to emerging processes in mechanistic urban ecology." *Trends in ecology & evolution* 21 (4): 186-191.
- Shurin, Jonathan B, and Emily G Allen. 2001. "Effects of competition, predation, and dispersal on species richness at local and regional scales." *The American Naturalist* 158 (6): 624-637.
- Siemann, Evan. 1998. "Experimental tests of effects of plant productivity and diversity on grassland arthropod diversity." *Ecology* 79 (6): 2057-2070.
- Stein, Anke, Katharina Gerstner, and Holger Kreft. 2014. "Environmental heterogeneity as a universal driver of species richness across taxa, biomes and spatial scales." *Ecology letters* 17 (7): 866-880.
- Stone, Emma Louise, Stephen Harris, and Gareth Jones. 2015. "Impacts of artificial lighting on bats: a review of challenges and solutions." *Mammalian Biology* 80 (3): 213-219.
- Straka, Tanja M, Pia E Lentini, Linda F Lumsden, Sascha Buchholz, Brendan A Wintle, and Rodney van der Ree. 2020. "Clean and green urban water bodies benefit nocturnal flying insects and their predators, insectivorous bats." *Sustainability* 12 (7): 2634.
- Thornton, M.M., R. Shrestha, Y. Wei, P.E. Thornton, S. Kao, and B.E. Wilson. 2020.
  Daymet: Daily Surface Weather Data on a 1-km Grid for North America, Version
  4. ORNL Distributed Active Archive Center.

- Threlfall, Caragh G, Bradley Law, and Peter B Banks. 2012. "Sensitivity of insectivorous bats to urbanization: Implications for suburban conservation planning." *Biological Conservation* 146 (1): 41-52.
- Threlfall, Caragh, Bradley Law, Trent Penman, and Peter B Banks. 2011. "Ecological processes in urban landscapes: mechanisms influencing the distribution and activity of insectivorous bats." *Ecography* 34 (5): 814-826.
- U.S. Census Bureau. 2018. "Census Bureau Reveals Fastest-Growing Large Cities." United States Census Bureau. <u>https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2018/estimates-cities.html</u>.
- Udy, Kristy, Matthias Fritsch, Katrin M Meyer, Ingo Grass, Sebastian Hanß, Florian Hartig, Thomas Kneib, Holger Kreft, Collins B Kukunda, and Guy Pe'er. 2021. "Environmental heterogeneity predicts global species richness patterns better than area." *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 30 (4): 842-851.
- Van de Ven, Tanja MFN, Andrew E McKechnie, and SJ Cunningham. 2019. "The costs of keeping cool: behavioural trade-offs between foraging and thermoregulation are associated with significant mass losses in an arid-zone bird." *Oecologia* 191 (1): 205-215.
- Vásquez, Diana A, Audrey A Grez, and Annia Rodríguez-San Pedro. 2020. "Speciesspecific effects of moonlight on insectivorous bat activity in central Chile." *Journal of Mammalogy* 101 (5): 1356-1363.
- Wang, J, W Gao, L Wang, W Metzner, J Ma, and J Feng. 2010. "Seasonal variation in prey abundance influences habitat use by greater horseshoe bats (Rhinolophus ferrumequinum) in a temperate deciduous forest." *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 88 (3): 315-323.
- Weller, Theodore J, and Cynthia J Zabel. 2002. "Variation in bat detections due to detector orientation in a forest." *Wildlife Society Bulletin*: 922-930.
- White, Gary C, and Kenneth P Burnham. 1999. "Program MARK: survival estimation from populations of marked animals." *Bird study* 46 (sup1): S120-S139.
- Wilke, André BB, Catherine Chase, Chalmers Vasquez, Augusto Carvajal, Johana Medina, William D Petrie, and John C Beier. 2019. "Urbanization creates diverse aquatic habitats for immature mosquitoes in urban areas." *Scientific reports* 9 (1): 1-11.
- Wu, Jianguo, G Darrel Jenerette, Alexander Buyantuyev, and Charles L Redman. 2011.
   "Quantifying spatiotemporal patterns of urbanization: The case of the two fastest growing metropolitan regions in the United States." *Ecological Complexity* 8 (1): 1-8.

- Zhang, Yujia, and Billie Turner II. 2020. Land-cover mapping of the central Arizona region based on 2015 National Agriculture Imagery Program (NAIP) imagery ver 1. Environmental Data Initiative.
- Zuñiga-Palacios, Jesús, Iriana Zuria, Ignacio Castellanos, Carlos Lara, and Gerardo Sánchez-Rojas. 2021. "What do we know (and need to know) about the role of urban habitats as ecological traps? Systematic review and meta-analysis." *Science of the Total Environment*: 146559.
- Zweifel-Schielly, Barbara, Michael Kreuzer, Klaus C Ewald, and Werner Suter. 2009.
   "Habitat selection by an Alpine ungulate: the significance of forage characteristics varies with scale and season." *Ecography* 32 (1): 103-113.

### APPENDIX A

# LIST OF BAT SPECIES EXPECTED TO OCCUR IN THE STUDY AREA

Appendix A: List of known bat species in Arizona and whether they were expected to occur in the Phoenix metropolitan area based on published species information, including the seasons in which bat species were expected to occur in Arizona based on records and known migratory patterns, whether species were expected to occur in the study area between 280-550 m elevation, and whether species were considered rare in the study area. Species information was compiled from Adams (2003), Arizona Game and Fish Department (2020), Bat Conservation International (2021), Cryan (2003), and local bat experts (Dr. Marianne Moore, Arizona State University; Angie McIntire, Arizona Game and Fish Department; Janet Tyburec, Bat Survey Solutions)

Bat Species	Seasons Expected	Range/Elevation in Study Area	Rare in Study Area
Allen's big-eared bat Idionycteris phyllotis	Year-round	Yes	Yes
Arizona myotis <i>Myotis occultus</i>	Year-round	No	No
Big brown bat <i>Eptesicus fuscus</i>	Year-round	Yes	No
Big free-tailed bat Nyctinomops macrotis	-	Yes	No
California leaf-nosed bat Macrotus californicus	Year-round	Yes	No
California myotis <i>Myotis californicus</i>	Year-round	Yes	No
Canyon bat Parastrellus hesperus	Year-round	Yes	No
Cave myotis Myotis velifer	Year-round	Yes	No
Fringed myotis Myotis thysanodes	Year-round	No	No
Ghost-faced bat Mormoops megalophylla	-	No	-
Hoary bat Lasiurus cinereus	Spr-Sum-Fall	Yes	No
Lesser long-nosed bat Leptonycteris yerbabuenae	Spr-Sum-Fall	No	-

Long-legged myotis <i>Myotis volans</i>	Year-round	No	No
Mexican free-tailed bat Tadarida brasiliensis	Year-round	Yes	No
Mexican long-tongued bat Choeronycteris mexicana	Winter	No	-
Pallid bat Antrozous pallidus	Year-round	Yes	No
Pocketed free-tailed bat Nyctinomops femorosaccus	-	Yes	No
Silver-haired bat Lasionycteris noctivagans	Spr-Sum	Yes	Yes
Small-footed myotis <i>Myotis ciliolabrum</i>	Year-round	No	-
Southwestern myotis <i>Myotis auriculus</i>	Spr-Sum	No	-
Spotted bat Euderma maculatum	Year-round	Yes	Yes
Townsend's big-eared bat Corynorhinus townsendii	Year-round	Yes	No
Underwood's mastiff bat Eumops underwoodi	Year-round	No	-
Western long-eared myotis <i>Myotis evotis</i>	Year-round	No	-
Western mastiff bat Eumops perotis	Year-round	Yes	No
Western red bat <i>Lasiurus blossevillii</i>	Spr-Sum	Yes	No
Western yellow bat Lasiurus xanthinus	Year-round	Yes	No
V	·· 1	37	NT

### APPENDIX B

**ROYLE-NICHOLS MODEL RESULTS** 

Appendix B: Results of habitat use based on Royle-Nichols (RN) models for 14 bat species in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona during four seasons in 2019. Species include the big brown bat (Table B1), the big/pocketed free-tailed bat (Table B2), the California myotis (Table B3), the canyon bat (Table B4), the hoary bat (Table B5), the Mexican free-tailed bat (Table B6), the pallid bat (Table B7), the silver-haired bat (Table B8), the Townsend's big-eared bat (Table B9), the western mastiff bat (Table B10), the western red bat (Table B11), the western yellow bat (Table B12), the Yuma myotis (Table B13) and the 40 kHz Myotis (Table B14). Parameters include species specific detection probability (r) and relative habitat use (Lambda). Models include the intercept-only model (r(.) Lambda (.)) and the variables include urbanization (U), quadratic relationship for urbanization (UQ), plant productivity (P), the interaction between urbanization and plant productivity (UxP), the interaction between quadratic urbanization and plant productivity (UQxP), and distance to water (W). The most supported spatial scale (i.e., 125- 2000 m radius buffers) of urbanization and plant productivity follows the associated variable in the model description. Result tables include the number of terms in the model (K), AICc value, delta AICc ( $\Delta$ AICc), model weight (wt), and beta estimates for each variable, followed by the associated standard error (se).

		0			1	0												
								U		UQ		Р		UxP		UQxP		W
	Season	Model	K	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
27	Spring	r(.) Lambda(U.250 + UQ.250)	4	95.12	0.00	0.35	1.84	0.67	-1.22	0.54								
Ŭ		r(.) Lambda(U.250 + UQ.250 + P.2000)	5	95.64	0.52	0.27	1.77	0.64	-1.09	0.53	0.47	0.34						
		r(.) Lambda(U.250 + UQ.250 + W)	5	96.94	1.82	0.14	2.24	0.87	-1.51	0.69							0.45	0.51
		r(.) Lambda(U.250 + UQ.250 + P.2000 + W)	6	97.17	2.05	0.13	2.30	0.87	-1.41	0.66	0.52	0.35					0.60	0.52
		r(.) Lambda(.)	2	100.31	5.19	0.03												
		r(.) Lambda(U.250 + UQ.250 + P.2000 + UxP + UQxP)	7	100.34	5.22	0.03	2.01	0.79	-1.30	0.64	0.29	0.45	-0.34	0.69	0.54	0.76		
		r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	100.94	5.82	0.02					0.43	0.34						
		r(.) Lambda(W)	3	101.17	6.05	0.02											-0.54	0.54
		r(.) Lambda(U.250 + UQ.250 + P.2000 + UxP + UQxP +	W) 8	101.81	6.69	0.01	2.73	1.08	-1.73	0.80	0.29	0.50	-0.46	0.70	0.69	0.85	0.74	0.58
		r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	102.02	6.90	0.01					0.41	0.33					-0.53	0.54
	Summer	r(.) Lambda(P.125)	3	105.86	0.00	0.29					0.56	0.20						
		r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.125)	4	105.95	0.09	0.28	0.53	0.34			0.63	0.21						
		r(.) Lambda(P.125 + W)	4	107.68	1.83	0.12					0.50	0.21					-0.36	0.54
		r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.125 + UxP)	5	108.25	2.40	0.09	0.52	0.34			0.63	0.21	0.11	0.26				
		r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.125 + W)	5	108.42	2.56	0.08	0.52	0.38			0.62	0.24					-0.03	0.55
		r(.) Lambda(.)	2	109.54	3.68	0.05												
		r(.) Lambda(W)	3	109.88	4.02	0.04											-0.68	0.60
		r(.) Lambda(U.500)	3	110.74	4.88	0.03	0.32	0.30										
		r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.125 + UxP + W)	6	110.83	4.98	0.02	0.50	0.38			0.62	0.23	0.11	0.26			-0.05	0.56
		r(.) Lambda(U.500 + W)	4	112.00	6.15	0.01	0.18	0.35									-0.56	0.63

Table B1: RN model results for the big brown bat in the spring and summer season.

							U		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	K	AICe	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	sc	β	sc	β	sc
Winter	r(.) Lambda(U.1000)	3	123.09	0.00	0.72	-1.85	0.62						
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + W)	4	125.00	1.91	0.28	-1.65	0.67					0.16	0.22
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	133.14	10.05	0.00							0.57	0.16
	r(.) Lambda(P.250 + W)	4	134.12	11.02	0.00			0.31	0.27			0.51	0.19
	r(.) Lambda(P.250)	3	137.36	14.26	0.00			0.55	0.26				
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	139.76	16.67	0.00								
Spring	r(.) Lambda(U.2000)	3	134.06	0.00	0.31	-1.09	0.39						
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000 + UxP)	5	134.91	0.85	0.20	-1.13	0.42	0.05	0.33	-0.49	0.25		
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000)	4	135.10	1.04	0.18	-1.08	0.40	0.36	0.30				
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + W)	4	135.69	1.62	0.14	-1.35	0.51					-0.26	0.32
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000 + UxP + W)	6	136.83	2.76	0.08	-1.39	0.53	-0.07	0.37	-0.55	0.27	-0.26	0.33
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000 + W)	5	137.15	3.08	0.07	-1.29	0.52	0.31	0.31			-0.20	0.32
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	142.09	8.02	0.01			0.52	0.31			0.36	0.21
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	142.21	8.15	0.01								
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	142.21	8.15	0.01			0.45	0.30				
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	142.54	8.48	0.00							0.30	0.20
Summer	r()Lambda(U1000)	3	81.05	0.00	0.43	-2.67	1.27						
ounner	r()Lambda(U1000 + P1000)	4	82.14	1.09	0.25	-2.91	1.24	0.60	0.45				
	r()Lambda(U1000 + W)	4	83.41	2.36	0.13	-2.73	1.39	0.00	0.45			-0.04	0.38
	r()Lambda(U1000 + P1000 + UxP)	5	84 32	3 27	0.08	-2.56	1.35	0.15	0.94	-0.54	0.96	-0.04	0.50
	r()Lambda(U1000 + P1000 + W)	5	84.57	3.52	0.07	-2.85	1.27	0.65	0.51	-0.04	0.70	0.08	0.39
	r(.)Lambda(U.1000 + P.1000 + UxP + W)	6	86.77	5.72	0.02	-2.38	1.23	0.20	0.85	-0.60	0.86	0.16	0.40
	r() Lambda(W)	3	90.82	9.77	0.00	2100	1.20	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.56	0.22
	r(.) Lambda(P.1000 + W)	4	92.26	11.21	0.00			0.40	0.40			0.62	0.23
	r()Lambda()	2	93.00	11.95	0.00			0.10	0110			010.8	0120
	r(.) Lambda(P.1000)	3	94.94	13.89	0.00			0.20	0.34				
Fall	r()Lambda(I1000)	3	110.05	0.00	0.53	-2.42	0.95						
	r()Lambda(U1000 + W)	4	112.41	2.36	0.16	-2.39	1.02					0.02	0.25
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.1000)	4	112.41	2.37	0.16	-2.42	0.95	0.00	0.31			0.01	0.20
	r()Lambda(U1000 + P1000 + UxP)	5	113.99	3.95	0.07	-2.69	1.18	-0.72	0.73	-0.74	0.66		
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.1000 + W)	5	114.88	4.84	0.05	-2.39	1.03	0.01	0.33	0.74	0.00	0.02	0.26
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.1000 + UxP + W)	6	116.58	6.53	0.02	-2.67	1.27	-0.71	0.77	-0.73	0.67	0.01	0.27
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	122.96	12.91	0.00	2007				2112		0.50	0.18
	r(.) Lambda(P.1000 +W)	4	123.98	13.93	0.00			0.37	0.32			0.57	0.20
	r() Lambda()	2	126.45	16.41	0.00				al				
	r(.) Lambda(P.1000)	3	128.33	18.29	0.00			0.18	0.29				

Table B2: RN model results for the big/pocketed free-tailed bat in the winter, spring, summer and fall season.

							U		UQ		Р		W
Season	Model	К	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
Spring	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000)	4	83.97	0.00	0.42	-0.61	0.94	-2.98	1.25				
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + P.2000)	5	84.60	0.63	0.31	-0.76	1.02	-3.04	1.3	0.51	0.39		
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + W)	5	86.17	2.20	0.14	-0.79	0.98	-2.76	1.34			-0.51	1.07
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + P.2000 + W)	6	87.18	3.22	0.08	-0.75	1.08	-3.08	1.47	0.52	0.42	0.05	1.1
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	91.13	7.16	0.01					0.63	0.39		
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	91.22	7.25	0.01					0.58	0.38	-0.99	0.85
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	91.24	7.28	0.01							-1.07	0.88
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	91.64	7.67	0.01								
Summer	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	177.50	0.00	0.49					0.56	0.22	-1.02	0.56
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + P.2000 + W)	6	180.09	2.59	0.13	-0.02	0.42	-0.44	0.43	0.46	0.22	-0.95	0.68
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + P.2000)	5	180.27	2.77	0.12	0.46	0.32	-0.82	0.41	0.51	0.23		
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	180.85	3.36	0.09					0.77	0.23		
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	181.39	3.89	0.07							-1.37	0.61
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + W)	5	181.79	4.29	0.06	0.04	0.43	-0.63	0.46			-1.14	0.73
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500)	4	183.01	5.51	0.03	0.61	0.32	-1.17	0.42				
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	189.13	11.63	0.00								

Table B3: RN model results for the California myotis in the spring and summer season.

							U		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	sc	β	sc	β	sc
Winter	r(.) Lambda(P.250)	3	180.96	0.00	0.32			0.44	0.24				
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000)	3	181.47	0.51	0.24	-0.42	0.26						
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	182.04	1.08	0.18								
	r(.) Lambda(P.250 + W)	4	183.22	2.26	0.10			0.48	0.27			-0.08	0.25
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + W)	4	183.61	2.64	0.08	-0.50	0.32					-0.12	0.26
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	184.00	3.03	0.07							0.12	0.20
Spring	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.125)	4	232.37	0.00	0.31	-0.83	0.21	-0.43	0.22				
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.125 + W)	5	233.07	0.71	0.22	-0.68	0.23	-0.41	0.23			0.23	0.17
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + W)	4	233.99	1.62	0.14	-0.59	0.23					0.28	0.17
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000)	3	234.06	1.69	0.13	-0.78	0.20						
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.125 + UxP)	5	234.39	2.03	0.11	-0.80	0.18	-0.41	0.16	0.17	0.15		
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.125 + UxP + W)	6	235.01	2.64	0.08	-0.64	0.23	-0.40	0.22	0.20	0.24	0.25	0.18
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	239.47	7.11	0.01							0.55	0.15
	r(.) Lambda(P.125 + W)	4	240.72	8.35	0.00			-0.20	0.19			0.54	0.16
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	249.57	17.21	0.00								
	r(.) Lambda(P.125)	3	249.90	17.53	0.00			-0.24	0.18				
_													
Summer	r(.) Lambda(U.2000)	3	235.02	0.00	0.48	-0.66	0.12						
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + W)	4	236.77	1.75	0.20	-0.74	0.16					-0.11	0.14
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.500)	4	237.22	2.19	0.16	-0.66	0.12	0.05	0.12				
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.500 + UxP)	5	238.60	3.58	0.08	-0.69	0.12	0.10	0.13	-0.19	0.18		
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.500 + W)	5	239.22	4.20	0.06	-0.73	0.15	0.02	0.12			-0.10	0.13
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.500 + UxP + W)	6	240.70	5.68	0.03	-0.76	0.16	0.07	0.13	-0.20	0.19	-0.10	0.15
	r(.) Lambda(P.500 + W)	4	258.26	23.23	0.00			0.21	0.12			0.40	0.13
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	259.14	24.11	0.00							0.34	0.13
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	264.53	29.51	0.00								
	r(.) Lambda(P.500)	3	265.61	30.58	0.00			0.12	0.11				
Fall	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + W)	4	239.95	0.00	0.26	-0.48	0.22					0.26	0.14
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000)	3	240.39	0.44	0.21	-0.65	0.21						
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.2000)	4	240.49	0.53	0.20	-0.69	0.20	-0.26	0.17				
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.2000 + W)	5	241.54	1.58	0.12	-0.55	0.23	-0.17	0.18			0.20	0.16
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.2000 + UxP)	5	242.52	2.57	0.07	-0.65	0.21	-0.21	0.20	0.13	0.20		
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	242.65	2.70	0.07							0.42	0.12
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.2000 + UxP + W)	6	243.72	3.77	0.04	-0.52	0.24	-0.14	0.20	0.11	0.19	0.19	0.15
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	245.02	5.07	0.02			0.01	0.17			0.42	0.12
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	249.41	9.46	0.00								
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	251.10	11.15	0.00			-0.13	0.17				

Table B4: RN model results for the canyon bat in the winter, spring, summer and fall season.

							U		P		W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	$\Delta AICc$	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se
Spring	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.2000)	4	107.50	0.00	0.48	-0.92	0.43	0.82	0.31		
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.2000 + W)	5	109.97	2.47	0.14	-0.90	0.49	0.83	0.34	0.02	0.35
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	110.49	2.99	0.11			0.75	0.35		
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000)	3	110.52	3.02	0.11	-0.79	0.41				
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	111.30	3.80	0.07			0.91	0.38	0.37	0.26
	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + W)	4	112.48	4.98	0.04	-0.97	0.52			-0.23	0.39
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	112.73	5.23	0.04						
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	114.54	7.04	0.01					0.19	0.26

Table B5: RN model results for the hoary bat in the spring season.

							U		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	$\Delta AICc$	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
Winter	r(.) Lambda(P.125)	3	318.92	0.00	0.54			-0.30	0.10				
	r(.) Lambda(U.125)	3	321.03	2.11	0.19	0.26	0.10						
	r(.) Lambda(P.125 + W)	4	321.27	2.36	0.17			-0.30	0.11			0.01	0.12
	r(.) Lambda(U.125 + W)	4	323.22	4.31	0.06	0.25	0.10					-0.05	0.12
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	325.19	6.28	0.02								
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	326.15	7.24	0.01							-0.14	0.12
Spring	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.2000 + W)	5	246.30	0.00	0.58	0.36	0.12	0.27	0.11			-0.30	0.13
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.2000 + UxP + W)	6	248.86	2.56	0.16	0.37	0.12	0.27	0.11	0.02	0.11	-0.29	0.13
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.2000)	4	249.44	3.14	0.12	0.53	0.11	0.32	0.11				
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + W)	4	250.79	4.49	0.06	0.28	0.11					-0.33	0.13
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.2000 + UxP)	5	251.54	5.24	0.04	0.54	0.11	0.31	0.11	0.07	0.12		
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	253.17	6.88	0.02			0.21	0.09			-0.51	0.11
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	254.75	8.46	0.01							-0.49	0.13
	r(.) Lambda(U.500)	3	255.91	9.62	0.00	0.43	0.10						
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	270.69	24.40	0.00			0.19	0.11				
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	271.19	24.90	0.00								
Summer	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + W)	4	255.32	0.00	0.31	0.33	0.13					-0.37	0.20
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.125 + W)	5	255.84	0.51	0.24	0.35	0.14	0.18	0.12			-0.30	0.20
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.125)	4	256.09	0.76	0.21	0.45	0.12	0.24	0.12				
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000)	3	257.37	2.05	0.11	0.44	0.11						
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	258.21	2.89	0.07							-0.60	0.20
	r(.) Lambda(P.125 + W)	4	259.15	3.83	0.05			0.16	0.13			-0.54	0.20
	r(.) Lambda(P.125)	3	266.59	11.26	0.00			0.29	0.14				
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	268.37	13.05	0.00								
Fall	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.500 + UxP)	5	324.38	0.00	0.72	0.45	0.13	-0.34	0.15	0.46	0.16		
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.500 + UxP + W)	6	326.87	2.48	0.21	0.43	0.15	-0.35	0.15	0.46	0.16	-0.04	0.13
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.500)	4	331.49	7.11	0.02	0.24	0.11	-0.22	0.13				
	r(.) Lambda(U.500)	3	332.07	7.69	0.02	0.32	0.11						
	r(.) Lambda(P.500 + W)	4	332.90	8.52	0.01			-0.35	0.13			-0.22	0.14
	r(.) Lambda(P.500)	3	333.34	8.96	0.01			-0.33	0.13				
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.500 + W)	5	333.45	9.07	0.01	0.19	0.14	-0.26	0.14			-0.11	0.15
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + W)	4	334.43	10.05	0.00	0.32	0.12					0.01	0.14
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	337.68	13.30	0.00								
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	338.59	14.21	0.00							-0.15	0.14

Table B6: RN model results for the Mexican free-tailed bat in the winter, spring, summer and fall season.

Table B7: RN model results for the Pallid bat in the spring and summer season. Note that there were no model results for landscape variables of the pallid bat in the spring season because there were too few detections to reliably evaluate relationships.

							Р	_	W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se
Spring	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	34.13	0.00	1.00				
Summer	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	55.48	0.00	0.55	1.72	0.79	1.00	0.51
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	57.17	1.70	0.24	0.94	0.50		
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	58.36	2.88	0.13				
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	59.39	3.91	0.08			0.41	0.33

Table B8: RN model results for the silver-haired bat in the summer and fall season. Note that there were no model results for landscape variables of the silver-haired bat in the summer season because there were too few detections to reliably evaluate relationships.

							U		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	K	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
Summer	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	32.26	0.00	1.00								
Fall	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	74.14	0.00	0.15			-0.58	0.34				
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.2000 + UxP)	5	74.17	0.03	0.15	-0.16	0.50	-0.57	0.60	1.02	0.81		
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.2000)	4	74.43	0.29	0.13	-0.60	0.46	-0.71	0.40				
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.2000 + UxP + W)	6	74.43	0.29	0.13	-0.53	0.63	-0.55	0.59	1.28	0.96	-0.77	0.62
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + P.2000 + W)	5	74.47	0.33	0.12	-0.95	0.55	-0.88	0.42			-0.77	0.59
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	74.60	0.46	0.12								
	r(.) Lambda(U.500)	3	75.45	1.31	0.08	-0.51	0.47						
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	76.03	1.89	0.06			-0.65	0.36			-0.30	0.49
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + W)	4	76.80	2.66	0.04	-0.79	0.58					-0.49	0.55
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	76.80	2.66	0.04							-0.10	0.41

Table B9: RN model results for the Townsend's big-eared bat in the summer season. Note that there were no model results for landscape variables of the Townsend's big-eared bat in the summer season because there were too few detections to reliably evaluate relationships.

Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt
Summer	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	32.26	0.00	1.00

Table B10: RN model results for the western mastiff bat in the spring, summer and fall season. Note that there were no model results for landscape variables of the western mastiff bat in the summer season because there were too few detections to reliably evaluate relationships.

								U		Р		UxP		W
	Season	Model	K	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
	Spring	r(.) Lambda(P.1000)	3	51.02	0.00	0.59			1.76	0.58				
		r(.) Lambda(P.1000 + W)	4	51.82	0.80	0.40			2.29	0.89			0.73	0.58
		r(.) Lambda(.)	2	59.62	8.60	0.01								
98		r(.) Lambda(W)	3	61.70	10.68	0.00							0.19	0.41
	Summer	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	32.26	0.00	1.00								
	Fall	r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.2000)	4	56.88	0.00	0.61	-2.47	1.51	0.94	0.41				
		r(.) Lambda(U.1000 + P.2000 + UxP)	5	59.35	2.47	0.18	-2.64	2.39	1.16	2.29	0.21	2.18		
		r(.) Lambda(U.1000)	3	60.03	3.15	0.13	-2.55	1.58						
		r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	61.57	4.69	0.06			1.26	0.51				
		r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	63.73	6.85	0.02			1.32	0.54			0.23	0.47
		r(.) Lambda(.)	2	65.99	9.11	0.01								
		r(.) Lambda(W)	3	68.25	11.37	0.00							-0.05	0.46

							U		UQ		Р		W
Season	Model	K	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
Winter	r(.) Lambda(Urb250 + W)	4	86.36	0.00	0.87	-1.74	0.82					-1.91	1.00
	r(.) Lambda(Urb250)	3	92.44	6.08	0.04	-0.80	0.56						
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	92.44	6.09	0.04							-1.02	0.80
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	93.25	6.90	0.03								
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	94.35	7.99	0.02					0.42	0.39		
Spring	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	58.68	0.00	1.00								
Fall	r(.) Lambda(P.500)	3	96.57	0.00	0.43					0.66	0.22		
	r(.) Lambda(U.250 + UQ.250 + P.500)	5	98.50	1.92	0.17	0.04	0.63	-1.42	1.09	0.56	0.24		
	r(.) Lambda(P.500 + W)	4	98.67	2.10	0.15					0.62	0.23	-0.23	0.47
	r(.) Lambda(U.250 + UQ.250)	4	100.15	3.57	0.07	0.00	0.64	-1.56	1.01				
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	100.31	3.73	0.07								
	r(.) Lambda(U.250 + UQ.250 + P.500 + W)	6	101.04	4.47	0.05	-0.04	0.71	-1.33	1.16	0.54	0.26	-0.11	0.54
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	101.59	5.01	0.04							-0.43	0.51
	r(.) Lambda(U.250 + UQ.250 + W)	5	102.03	5.45	0.03	-0.29	0.73	-1.19	1.07			-0.42	0.61

Table B11: RN model results for the western red bat in the winter, spring and fall season.

							U		UQ		Р		W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	$\Delta AICc$	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
Winter	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500)	4	115.41	0.00	0.59	1.15	0.48	-1.09	0.46				
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + W)	5	117.87	2.46	0.17	1.20	0.63	-1.13	0.56			0.07	0.57
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	118.74	3.33	0.11							-0.87	0.58
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	120.14	4.74	0.06								
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	120.91	5.50	0.04					-0.36	0.30		
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	121.01	5.61	0.04					-0.11	0.37	-0.79	0.64
Spring	r(.) Lambda(P.125 + W)	4	199.97	0.00	0.38					0.38	0.07	-0.71	0.33
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + P.125)	5	200.40	0.43	0.30	0.74	0.29	-0.51	0.27	0.46	0.15		
	r(.) Lambda(P.125)	3	202.37	2.40	0.11					0.49	0.15		
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + P.125 + W)	6	202.45	2.48	0.11	0.57	0.37	-0.41	0.30	0.42	0.15	-0.29	0.42
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	203.49	3.52	0.06							-0.88	0.42
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500)	4	206.17	6.20	0.02	0.67	0.29	-0.63	0.28				
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + W)	5	206.59	6.62	0.01	0.32	0.38	-0.38	0.31			-0.60	0.48
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	208.33	8.36	0.01								
Summer	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + W)	5	268.81	0.00	0.26	0.49	0.19	-0.42	0.16			-0.46	0.22
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500)	4	269.06	0.24	0.23	0.77	0.20	-0.61	0.18				
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	269.08	0.26	0.22							-0.88	0.28
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + P.2000)	5	270.47	1.65	0.11	0.74	0.20	-0.55	0.19	0.14	0.14		
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	270.81	2.00	0.09					0.11	0.14	-0.83	0.28
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + P.2000 + W)	6	270.99	2.17	0.09	0.49	0.25	-0.41	0.20	0.09	0.14	-0.41	0.31
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	281.02	12.20	0.00					0.28	0.16		
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	281.84	13.03	0.00								
	<i>·</i>												
Fall	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000)	4	157.37	0.00	0.34	0.76	0.37	-0.59	0.33				
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	158.65	1.27	0.18							-0.68	0.46
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + P.125)	5	159.55	2.18	0.11	0.73	0.37	-0.56	0.34	0.11	0.20		
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	159.78	2.40	0.10								
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + W)	5	159.79	2.41	0.10	0.84	0.38	-0.65	0.27			0.13	0.47
	r(.) Lambda(P.125 + W)	4	160.60	3.23	0.07					0.14	0.21	-0.61	0.46
	r(.) Lambda(P.125)	3	160.74	3.37	0.06					0.25	0.21		
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + P.125 + W)	6	162.02	4.65	0.03	0.85	0.51	-0.64	0.41	0.13	0.21	0.19	0.51

Table B12: RN model results for the western yellow bat in the winter, spring, summer and fall season.

Table B13: RN model results for the Yuma myotis in the winter, spring, summer and fall season. Note that there were no model results for landscape variables of the Yuma myotis in the winter season because there were too few detections to reliably evaluate relationships.

							U		UQ		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	к	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
Winter	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	51.19	0.00	1.00										
Spring	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + P.2000)	5	166.48	0.00	0.32	-0.16	0.37	-1.11	0.54	0.55	0.27				
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + P.2000 + W)	6	167.39	0.91	0.20	-0.48	0.42	-0.76	0.56	0.54	0.26			-0.54	0.46
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500)	4	167.96	1.48	0.15	-0.08	0.37	-1.20	0.54						
	r(.) Lambda(U.500 + UQ.500 + W)	5	168.71	2.23	0.10	-0.45	0.45	-0.79	0.59					-0.57	0.49
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	168.85	2.37	0.10					0.65	0.29				
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	169.51	3.03	0.07					0.63	0.28			-0.40	0.34
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	171.39	4.92	0.03										
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	171.70	5.23	0.02									-0.43	0.36
Summer	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	167.09	0.00	0.34					1.01	0.23				
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + P.2000)	5	167.38	0.30	0.30	-0.41	0.38	-0.90	0.47	0.84	0.26				
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	168.46	1.37	0.17					0.90	0.25			-0.34	0.38
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + P.2000 + W	6	168.47	1.38	0.17	-0.67	0.40	-0.63	0.49	0.76	0.26			-0.61	0.55
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + W)	5	173.97	6.88	0.01	-0.70	0.41	-0.77	0.48					-1.11	0.69
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + UQ.2000)	4	175.18	8.09	0.01	-0.20	0.35	-1.24	0.44						
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	179.11	12.03	0.00									-0.78	0.45
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	181.78	14.69	0.00										
Fall	r(.) Lambda(U.250 + P.2000)	4	141.43	0.00	0.28	-0.70	0.40			0.47	0.26				
	r(.) Lambda(U.250)	3	142.46	1.03	0.17	-0.76	0.40								
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	143.15	1.72	0.12					0.58	0.27				
	r(.) Lambda(U.250 + W)	4	143.18	1.75	0.11	-0.99	0.46							-0.37	0.32
	r(.) Lambda(U.250 + P.2000 + W)	5	143.29	1.86	0.11	-0.85	0.47			0.41	0.27			-0.24	0.32
	r(.) Lambda(U.250 + P.2000 + UxP)	5	143.55	2.12	0.10	-0.81	0.49			0.68	0.46	0.34	0.61		
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	145.43	4.00	0.04					0.60	0.28			0.08	0.26
	r(.) Lambda(U.250 + P.2000 + UxP + W)	6	145.47	4.04	0.04	-0.99	0.55			0.63	0.46	0.37	0.62	-0.25	0.32
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	145.48	4.05	0.04										
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	147.73	6.30	0.01									-0.03	0.26

							U		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
Spring	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	97.34	0.00	0.30			0.95	0.37				
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000)	4	98.44	1.10	0.17	-0.46	0.42	0.80	0.38				
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000 + W)	5	99.02	1.68	0.13	-0.95	0.57	0.59	0.39			-0.69	0.56
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + W)	4	99.09	1.76	0.12	-1.34	0.55					-0.95	0.59
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	99.61	2.27	0.10			0.94	0.37			-0.12	0.40
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000)	3	100.64	3.30	0.06	-0.71	0.40						
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000 + UxP)	5	100.91	3.58	0.05	-0.47	0.49	0.80	0.46	0.02	0.46		
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000 + UxP + W)	6	101.56	4.23	0.04	-1.02	0.66	0.66	0.48	0.11	0.50	-0.71	0.57
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	102.19	4.85	0.03								
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	104.31	6.98	0.01							-0.13	0.37
Summer	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000 + UxP)	5	133.81	0.00	0.28	-0.82	0.33	0.58	0.29	-0.53	0.24		
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000)	4	134.49	0.67	0.20	-0.79	0.38	0.54	0.32				
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000)	3	134.98	1.16	0.16	-0.66	0.33						
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000 + UxP + W)	6	136.36	2.54	0.08	-0.88	0.43	0.55	0.33	-0.53	0.25	-0.08	0.36
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + P.2000 + W)	5	136.89	3.08	0.06	-0.87	0.48	0.52	0.33			-0.09	0.34
	r(.) Lambda(U.2000 + W)	4	136.91	3.09	0.06	-0.84	0.44					-0.21	0.33
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000)	3	137.13	3.31	0.05			0.43	0.28				
	r(.) Lambda(.)	2	137.21	3.39	0.05								
	r(.) Lambda(P.2000 + W)	4	137.85	4.03	0.04			0.56	0.31			0.32	0.23
	r(.) Lambda(W)	3	138.80	4.98	0.02							0.20	0.22

Table B14: RN model results for the 40 kHz Myotis in the spring and summer season.

#### APPENDIX C

## PREDICTED RELATIVE HABITAT USE ACROSS THE GRADIENT OF

# URBANIZATION

Appendix C: Predicted relative habitat use (with associated 95% confidence intervals) based on the top Royle-Nichols (RN) models (with associated 95% confidence intervals) across the gradient of urbanization for 9 bat species in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona during four seasons in 2019. Species include the big brown bat (Figure C1), the big/pocketed free-tailed bat (Figure C2), the California myotis (Figure C3), the canyon bat (Figure C4), the Mexican free-tailed bat (Figure C5), the western mastiff bat (Figure C6), the western yellow bat (Figure C7), the Yuma myotis (Figure C8) and the 40 kHz Myotis (Figure C9). Note that the y-axes are on different scales.



Figure C1: Predicted relative habitat use (based on RN models) across the gradient of urbanization shifted across seasons for the big brown bat in the (a) spring (i.e., urbanization adapter) and (b) summer (i.e., urbanization exploiter) season.



Figure C2: Predicted relative habitat use (based on RN models) across the gradient of urbanization was consistent across all four seasons for the big/pocketed free-tailed bat (i.e., urbanization avoider) in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer, and (d) fall season.



Figure C3: Predicted relative habitat use (based on RN models) across the gradient of urbanization for the California myotis (i.e., urbanization adapter) in the spring season.



Figure C4: Predicted relative habitat use (based on RN models) across the gradient of urbanization was consistent across all four seasons for the canyon bat (i.e., urbanization avoider) in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer, and (d) fall season.



Figure C5: Predicted relative habitat use (based on RN models) across the gradient of urbanization was consistent across all four seasons for the Mexican free-tailed bat (i.e., urbanization exploiter) in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer, and (d) fall season.



Figure C6: Predicted relative habitat use (based on RN models) across the gradient of urbanization for the western mastiff bat (i.e., urbanization avoider) in the fall season.



Figure C7: Predicted relative habitat use (based on RN models) across the gradient of urbanization was consistent across all four seasons for the western yellow bat (i.e., urbanization adapter) in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer, and (d) fall season.


Figure C8: Predicted relative habitat use (based on RN models) across the gradient of urbanization shifted across seasons for the Yuma myotis in the (a) spring (i.e., urbanization adapter), (b) summer (i.e., urbanization adapter), and (c) fall (i.e.,  $\Im$  urbanization avoider) season.



Figure C9: Predicted relative habitat use (based on RN models) across the gradient of urbanization for the 40 kHz Myotis (i.e., urbanization avoider) in the summer season.

### APPENDIX D

# RELATIVE HABITAT USE ACROSS URBAN INTENSITY CATEGORIES

Appendix D: Estimates of relative habitat use based on Royle-Nichols (RN) models across three categories of urban intensity at a 1000 m scale (low (0-0.01), moderate (0.02-0.30), and high urban intensity (0.31-0.61)) for 14 bat species in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona during four seasons in 2019. Species include the big brown bat (Figure D1), the big/pocketed free-tailed bat (Figure D2), the California myotis (Figure D3), the canyon bat (Figure D4), the hoary bat (Figure D5), the Mexican free-tailed bat (Figure D6), the pallid bat (Figure D7), the silver-haired bat (Figure D8), the Townsend's big-eared bat (Figure D9), the western mastiff bat (Figure D10), the western red bat (Figure D11), the western yellow bat (Figure D12), the Yuma myotis (Figure D13) and the 40kHz myotis (Figure D14). The error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Note that the y-axes are on different scales.



Figure D1: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the big brown bat in the (a) spring and (b) summer season.



Figure D2: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the big/pocketed free-tailed bat in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer, and (d) fall season.



Figure D3: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the California myotis in the (a) spring and (b) summer season.



Figure D4: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the canyon bat in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer, and (d) fall season.



Figure D5: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the hoary bat in the spring season.



Figure D6: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the Mexican free-tailed bat in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer, and (d) fall season.



Figure D7: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the pallid bat in the (a) spring and (b) summer season.



Figure D8: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the silver-haired bat in the (a) summer and (b) fall season.







Figure D10: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the western mastiff bat in the (a) spring, (b) summer, and (c) fall season.



Figure D11: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the western red bat in the (a) winter, (b) spring, and (c) summer season.



Figure D12: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the western yellow bat in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer, and (d) fall season.







Figure D14: Relative habitat use (based on RN models) across urban intensity categories for the 40 kHz Myotis in the (a) spring and (b) summer season.

#### APPENDIX E

# SPECIES RELATIONSHIPS WITH LANDSCAPE VARIABLES ACROSS SEASONS BASED ON ROYLE-NICHOLS MODELS

Appendix E: Summary of how habitat use of bats (based on the top Royle-Nichols (RN) models) varied in relation to the variables plant productivity (Figure E1) and distance to water (Figure E2) among 14 species and four seasons in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona in 2019. The error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Note the y-axes are on different scales.



Figure E1: Bat species' relationships (based on RN models) with the variable "plant productivity" in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer and (d) fall season.



Figure E2: Bat species' relationships (based on RN models) with the variable "distance to water" in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer and (d) fall season.

### APPENDIX F

## SINGLE-SPECIES SINGLE-SEASON OCCUPANCY MODEL RESULTS

Appendix F: Occupancy model results for 14 bat species in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona during four seasons in 2019. Species include the big brown bat (Table F1), the big/pocketed free-tailed bat (Table F2), the California myotis (Table F3), the canyon bat (Table F4), the hoary bat (Table F5), the Mexican free-tailed bat (Table F6), the pallid bat (Table F7), the silver-haired bat (Table F8), the Townsend's big-eared bat (Table F9), the western mastiff bat (Table F10), the western red bat (Table F11), the western yellow bat (Table F12), the Yuma myotis (Table F13) and the 40 kHz Myotis (Table F14). Parameters include detection probability (p) and occupancy probability (psi). Models include the intercept-only model (p(.) psi (.)) and the variables include detection probability variables minimum seasonal temperature (T) and average percent moon illumination (M), and occupancy variables urbanization (U), quadratic urbanization (UQ), plant productivity (P), the interaction between urbanization and plant productivity (UxP), and distance to water (W). The most supported spatial scale (i.e., 125- 2000 m radius buffers) of urbanization and plant productivity follows the associated variable in the model description. Result tables include the number of terms in the model (K), AICc value, delta AICc ( $\Delta$ AICc), model weight (wt), and beta estimates for each variable, followed by the associated standard error (se).

								р								psi
<u> </u>								Μ		U		UQ		Р		W
18	Season	Model	K	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
	Spring	p(M) psi(U.125 + UQ.125)	5	94.71	0.00	0.38	-0.66	0.39	2.56	1.68	-1.44	1.07				
		p(M) psi(U.125 + UQ.125 + P.125)	6	96.24	1.53	0.17	-0.67	0.40	2.67	1.49	-1.44	0.98	0.62	0.66		
		p(M) psi(U.125 + UQ.125 + W)	6	96.80	2.09	0.13	-0.72	0.40	2.79	1.86	-1.44	1.10			0.49	0.82
		p(M) psi(.)	3	97.13	2.43	0.11	-0.86	0.37								
		p(M) psi(U.125 + UQ.125 + P.125 + W)	7	98.08	3.38	0.07	-0.73	0.40	3.00	1.79	-1.44	1.05	0.77	0.72	0.66	0.87
		p(M) psi(P.125)	4	98.54	3.83	0.06	-0.88	0.37					0.62	0.69		
		p(M) psi(W)	4	99.20	4.50	0.04	-0.83	0.38							-0.32	0.59
		p(.) psi(.)	2	100.34	5.63	0.02										
		p(M) psi(P.125 + W)	5	100.80	6.10	0.02	-0.85	0.37					0.59	0.70	-0.27	0.60
	Summer	p(.) psi(P.125)	3	105.83	0.00	0.34							0.97	0.47		
		p(.) psi(U.125 + P.125)	4	105.86	0.02	0.34			0.61	0.40			1.16	0.56		
		p(.) psi(P.125 + W)	4	107.90	2.06	0.12							0.89	0.47	-0.30	0.58
		p(.) psi(U.125 + P.125 + W)	5	108.33	2.49	0.10			0.63	0.44			1.18	0.63	0.05	0.60
		p(.) psi(.)	2	110.23	4.39	0.04										
		p(.) psi(W)	3	110.74	4.91	0.03									-0.71	0.64
		p(.) psi(U.125)	3	111.63	5.79	0.02			0.32	0.34						
		p(.) psi(U.125 + W)	4	112.80	6.97	0.01			0.20	0.36					-0.61	0.65

Table F1: Occupancy model results for the big brown bat in spring and summer season.

									р								psi
							Т		Μ		U		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
Winter	p(M) psi(U.2000 + W)	5	125.26	0.00	0.81			0.20	0.29	-1.73	1.08					1.02	1.27
	p(M) psi(W)	4	128.19	2.93	0.19			0.26	0.29							2.50	1.13
	p(M) psi(.)	3	139.73	14.48	0.00			0.54	0.33								
	p(.) psi(.)	2	140.19	14.94	0.00												
Spring	p(T) psi(W)	4	130.36	0.00	0.44	-0.92	0.32									2.90	1.07
	p(T) psi(U.2000 + W)	5	132.13	1.77	0.18	-0.86	0.33			-0.70	0.75					2.10	1.17
	p(T) psi(P.1000 + W)	5	132.52	2.17	0.15	-0.89	0.32					0.28	0.49			2.89	1.06
	p(T) psi(U.2000)	4	133.43	3.08	0.09	-0.72	0.36			-1.54	0.60						
	p(T) psi(U.2000 + P.1000 + W)	6	134.69	4.33	0.05	-0.86	0.33			-0.62	0.89	0.10	0.55			2.20	1.30
	p(T) psi(U.2000 + P.1000)	5	135.46	5.10	0.03	-0.76	0.35			-1.73	0.69	-0.32	0.48				
	p(T) psi(U.2000 + P.1000 + UxP + W)	7	135.91	5.55	0.03	-0.90	0.32			-0.49	0.97	-0.20	0.68	-0.86	0.65	2.49	1.47
	p(T) psi(U.2000 + P.1000 + UxP)	6	136.21	5.85	0.02	-0.76	0.36			-1.82	0.70	-0.54	0.62	-0.72	0.70		
	p(T) psi(.)	3	140.97	10.61	0.00	-0.74	0.38										
	p(.) psi(.)	2	142.10	11.74	0.00												
	p(T) psi(P.1000)	4	142.85	12.49	0.00	-0.68	0.40					0.26	0.37				
Summer	p(T) psi(.)	3	86.97	0.00	0.60	2.21	0.98										
	p(T) psi(P.2000)	4	87.96	1.00	0.37	2.51	0.98					-0.69	0.65				
	p(.) psi(.)	2	92.99	6.02	0.03												
Fall	p(.) psi(W)	3	115.60	0.00	0.51											2.05	0.74
	p(.) psi(P.1000 + W)	4	115.68	0.09	0.49							0.75	0.53			2.59	1.08
	p(.) psi(.)	2	126.02	10.42	0.00												
	p(.) psi(P.1000)	3	127.60	12.01	0.00							0.30	0.36				

Table F2: Occupancy model results for the big/pocketed free-tailed bat in the winter, spring, summer and fall season.

							р								psi
							Μ		U		UQ		Р		W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se								
Spring	p(.) psi(U.2000 + UQ.2000)	4	85.76	0.00	0.54			-0.84	1.11	-3.13	1.36				
	p(.) psi(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + W)	5	87.98	2.22	0.18			-1.08	1.19	-2.85	1.45			-0.61	1.32
	p(.) psi(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + P.125)	5	88.17	2.42	0.16			-0.80	1.10	-3.11	1.35	-0.11	0.46		
	p(.) psi(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + P.125 + W)	6	90.44	4.68	0.05			-1.06	1.17	-2.76	1.46	-0.17	0.48	-0.74	1.42
	p(.) psi(W)	3	92.04	6.29	0.02									-1.12	0.95
	p(.) psi(.)	2	92.25	6.49	0.02										
	p(.) psi(P.125 + W)	4	94.02	8.26	0.01							-0.26	0.43	-1.22	1.00
	p(.) psi(P.125)	3	94.37	8.61	0.01							-0.17	0.45		
Summer	p(M) psi(P.1000 + W)	5	181.63	0.00	0.53	-0.34	0.49					1.27	0.68	-1.27	0.71
	p(M) psi(P.1000)	4	184.34	2.71	0.14	-0.60	0.50					1.18	0.52		
	p(M) psi(U.250 + UQ.250 + P.1000 + W)	7	184.59	2.96	0.12	-0.45	0.48	-0.15	0.88	-0.55	0.75	1.25	0.90	-1.52	1.10
	p(M) psi(U.250 + UQ.250 + P.1000)	6	185.46	3.83	0.08	-0.48	0.49	0.87	0.61	-1.17	0.68	1.13	0.57		
	p(M) psi(U.250 + UQ.250 + W)	6	186.17	4.53	0.06	-0.74	0.49	-0.39	0.83	-0.58	0.69			-1.71	1.00
	p(M) psi(W)	4	186.52	4.89	0.05	-0.48	0.52							-1.41	0.70
	p(M) psi(U.250 + UQ.250)	5	188.88	7.25	0.01	-0.86	0.52	0.62	0.63	-1.30	0.67				
	p(M) psi(.)	3	190.64	9.01	0.01	-0.90	0.46								
	p(.) psi(.)	2	191.01	9.38	0.00										

Table F3: Occupancy model results for the California myotis in the spring and summer season.

Table F4: Occupancy model results for the canyon bat in the winter, spring, summer and fall season. Note that there were no model results for landscape variables of the canyon bat in the summer season because the species occurred across most sites (psi = 0.98), and therefore variables could not inform occupancy probability.

									р										psi
							Т		М		U		UQ		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	sc	β	se	β	sc	β	sc	β	se	β	sc
Winter	p(T) psi(U.1000)	4	179.44	0.00	0.30	0.68	0.26			-0.66	0.37								
	p(T) psi(P.125)	4	180.33	0.89	0.19	0.67	0.26							0.54	0.34				
	p(T) psi(.)	3	180.72	1.29	0.16	0.64	0.25												
	p(T) psi(W)	4	180.88	1.44	0.14	0.73	0.27											0.55	0.46
	p(T) psi(U.1000 + W)	5	181.61	2.17	0.10	0.71	0.26			-0.54	0.42							0.23	0.45
	p(T) psi(P.125 + W)	5	181.76	2.32	0.09	0.73	0.26							0.45	0.37			0.40	0.44
	p(.) psi(.)	2	185.07	5.64	0.02														
Spring	p(T + M) psi(U.1000)	5	238.99	0.00	0.52	0.54	0.21	0.40	0.22	-1.19	0.38								
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + P.1000)	6	240.83	1.84	0.21	0.53	0.21	0.39	0.22	-1.31	0.41			-0.33	0.38				
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + W)	6	241.54	2.55	0.14	0.53	0.21	0.40	0.22	-1.14	0.45							0.10	0.48
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + P.1000 + W)	7	243.54	4.55	0.05	0.53	0.21	0.39	0.22	-1.33	0.50			-0.33	0.40			-0.02	0.48
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + P.1000 + UxP)	7	243.54	4.55	0.05	0.53	0.21	0.39	0.22	-1.31	0.42			-0.33	0.38	0.00	0.36		
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + P.1000 + UxP + W)	8	246.38	7.39	0.01	0.53	0.21	0.39	0.22	-1.33	0.53			-0.33	0.40	-0.01	0.38	-0.02	0.50
	p(T + M) psi(W)	5	247.33	8.33	0.01	0.51	0.21	0.41	0.22									0.79	0.46
	p(T + M) psi(.)	4	249.17	10.18	0.00	0.51	0.22	0.43	0.23										
	p(T + M) psi(P.1000 + W)	6	249.47	10.48	0.00	0.51	0.21	0.42	0.23					0.21	0.32			0.81	0.47
	p(T + M) psi(P.1000)	5	251.24	12.24	0.00	0.51	0.22	0.44	0.24					0.20	0.32				
	p(.) psi(.)	2	262.29	23.29	0.00														
Summe	r p(T + M) psi(.)	4	264.27	0.00	1.00	-0.56	0.20	0.53	0.16										
	p(.) psi(.)	2	281.75	17.49	0.00														
Fall	p(.) psi(U.125 + UQ.125)	4	247.73	0.00	0.41					-2.25	0.73	1.23	0.50						
	p(.) psi(U.125 + UQ.125 + P.1000)	5	248.58	0.85	0.27					-2.39	0.75	1.25	0.50	-0.44	0.35				
	p(.) psi(U.125 + UQ.125 + W)	5	249.31	1.58	0.19					-1.96	0.77	1.11	0.51					0.40	0.46
	p(.) psi(U.125 + UQ.125 + P.1000 + W)	6	250.76	3.03	0.09					-2.17	0.81	1.16	0.52	-0.38	0.36			0.28	0.45
	p(.) psi(W)	3	253.68	5.95	0.02													0.88	0.46
	p(.) psi(P.1000 + W)	4	255.80	8.07	0.01									-0.16	0.32			0.85	0.46
	p(.) psi(.)	2	256.88	9.15	0.00														
	p(.) psi(P.1000)	3	258.46	10.73	0.00									-0.25	0.30				

							р								psi
							Т		U		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	K	AICc	$\Delta AICc$	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
Spring	p(T) psi(U.125)	4	100.13	0.00	0.20	-1.82	0.57	-1.68	1.05						
	p(T) psi(P.125 + W)	5	100.17	0.03	0.20	-1.79	0.54			0.86	0.53			1.86	1.23
	p(T) psi(W)	4	101.16	1.02	0.12	-1.83	0.54							1.47	1.05
	p(T) psi(U.125 + P.125)	5	101.55	1.42	0.10	-1.77	0.57	-1.43	1.06	0.53	0.56				
	p(T) psi(U.125 + W)	5	101.68	1.54	0.09	-1.84	0.55	-1.20	1.03					0.90	1.07
	p(T) psi(P.125)	4	101.76	1.62	0.09	-1.72	0.56			0.77	0.57				
	p(T) psi(.)	3	102.02	1.89	0.08	-1.77	0.56								
	p(T) psi(U.125 + P.125 + W)	6	102.33	2.20	0.07	-1.78	0.54	-0.64	1.05	0.72	0.56			1.44	1.32
	p(T) psi(U.125 + P.125 + UxP)	6	104.11	3.98	0.03	-1.77	0.57	-1.49	1.10	0.46	0.69	-0.25	1.39		
	p(T) psi(U.125 + P.125 + UxP + W)	7	105.04	4.91	0.02	-1.79	0.54	-0.60	1.18	0.75	0.72	0.08	1.32	1.46	1.34
	p(.) psi(.)	2	112.78	12.64	0.00										

Table F5: Occupancy model results for the hoary bat in the spring season.

Table F6: Occupancy model results for the Mexican free-tailed bat in the winter, spring, summer and fall season. Note that there were no model results for landscape variables of the Mexican free-tailed bat across seasons because the species occurred across most sites (psi ranging from 0.96 to 1.00), and therefore variables could not inform occupancy probability.

									p
							Т		Μ
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	$\Delta AICc$	wt	β	se	β	se
Winter	p(T + M) psi(.)	4	318.57	0.00	1.00	0.49	0.14	-0.23	0.14
	p(.) psi(.)	2	330.08	11.51	0.00				
Spring	p(T + M) psi(.)	4	273.01	0.00	1.00	-0.31	0.157	-0.45	0.17
	p(.) psi(.)	2	284.32	11.31	0.00				
Summer	p(M) psi(.)	3	275.53	0.00	0.83			-0.42	0.19
	p(.) psi(.)	2	278.68	3.15	0.17				
Fall	p(T) psi(.)	3	330.20	0.00	1.00	0.62	0.15		
	p(.) psi(.)	2	342.27	12.08	0.00				

Table F7: Occupancy model results for the pallid bat in the spring and summer season. Note that there were no model results for environmental or landscape variables of the pallid bat across seasons because there were too few detections to reliably evaluate relationships.

Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt
Spring	p(.) psi(.)	2	34.12	0.00	1.00
Summer	p(.) psi(.)	2	58.28	0.00	1.00

Table F8: Occupancy model results for the silver-haired bat in the summer and fall season. Note that there were no model results for environmental or landscape variables of the silver-haired bat across seasons because there were too few detections to reliably evaluate relationships.

	Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt
124	Summer	p(.) psi(.)	2	32.24	0.00	1.00
_	Fall	p(.) psi(.)	2	74.56	0.00	1.00

Table F9: Occupancy model results for Townsend's big-eared bat in the summer season. Note that there were no model results for environmental or landscape variables of the Townsend's big-eared bat in the summer season because there were too few detections to reliably evaluate relationships.

Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt
Summer	p(.) psi(.)	2	32.24	0.00	1.00

Table F10: Occupancy model results for the western mastiff bat in the spring, summer, and fall season. Note that there were no model results for environmental or landscape variables of the western mastiff bat in the summer and fall season because there were too few detections to reliably evaluate relationships.

								Р		W
	Season	Model	Κ	AICc	$\Delta AICc$	wt	β	se	β	se
	Spring	p(.) psi(P.2000)	3	51.89	0.00	0.63	2.19	0.90		
		p(.) psi(P.2000 + W)	4	53.05	1.16	0.35	2.53	1.10	0.73	0.66
		p(.) psi(.)	2	59.58	7.69	0.01				
		p(.) psi(W)	3	61.62	9.72	0.00			0.23	0.44
	Summer	p(.) psi(.)	2	32.24	0.00	1.00				
125	Fall	p(.) psi(.)	2	66.00	0.00	1.00				

							р								psi
							Μ		U		UQ		Р		W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
Winter	p(M) psi(.)	3	91.16	0.00	0.73	0.77	0.39								
	p(.) psi(.)	2	93.15	1.99	0.27										
Spring	p(M) psi(.)	3	56.70	0.00	0.39	1.00	0.49								
	p(M) psi(P.250)	4	57.36	0.66	0.28	1.03	0.50					0.60	0.44		
	p(M) psi(W)	4	58.86	2.16	0.13	1.01	0.50							-0.27	0.66
	p(.) psi(.)	2	59.19	2.49	0.11										
	p(M) psi(P.250 + W)	5	59.79	3.09	0.08	1.03	0.50					0.57	0.45	-0.13	0.64
Fall	p(.) psi(P.125)	3	96.42	0.00	0.33							1.02	0.51		
	p(.) psi(P.125 + W)	4	98.66	2.24	0.11							0.98	0.53	-0.19	0.56
	p(.) psi(U.500 + UQ.500)	4	99.67	3.25	0.07			-0.47	0.76	-1.89	1.27				
	p(.) psi(.)	2	100.34	3.92	0.05										
	p(.) psi(U.500 + UQ.500 + W)	5	101.06	4.64	0.03			-0.96	0.89	-1.23	1.32			-0.80	0.90
	p(.) psi(W)	3	101.57	5.15	0.03									-0.53	0.58

Table F11: Occupancy model results for the western red bat in the winter, spring, and fall season.

					-				p	_	_								psi
							Т		M		U		UQ		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	K	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	sc	β	sc	β	sc	β	sc	β	se	β	se	β	se
Winter	p(T) psi(.)	3	107.59	0.00	0.61	1.67	0.55												
	p(T) psi(P.125)	4	108.48	0.90	0.39	1.72	0.55							-0.93	0.90				
	p(.) psi(.)	2	120.29	12.70	0.00														
Spring	p(T + M) psi(P.125 + W)	6	197.03	0.00	0.42	0.71	0.30	-0.29	0.22					1.87	1.05			-0.74	0.50
	p(T + M) psi(P.125)	5	197.05	0.01	0.42	0.74	0.30	-0.33	0.22					1.80	0.94				
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + UQ.1000 + P.125)	7	199.91	2.88	0.10	0.71	0.29	-0.29	0.22	0.54	0.49	-0.86	0.64	1.91	0.97				
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + UQ.1000 + P.125 + W)	8	201.95	4.92	0.04	0.72	0.30	-0.29	0.22	0.09	0.72	-0.50	0.76	1.89	1.05			-0.59	0.71
	p(T + M) psi(W)	5	204.66	7.63	0.01	0.66	0.28	-0.33	0.21									-0.84	0.48
	p(T + M) psi(.)	4	206.44	9.41	0.00	0.68	0.29	-0.37	0.22										
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + UQ.1000)	6	207.73	10.70	0.00	0.69	0.28	-0.32	0.22	0.50	0.40	-0.89	0.53						
	p(.) psi(.)	2	208.31	11.28	0.00														
	p(T + M) psi(U.1000 + UQ.1000 + W)	7	208.91	11.88	0.00	0.69	0.28	-0.32	0.22	-0.02	0.59	-0.45	0.64					-0.74	0.68
Summer	p(.) psi(W)	3	280.39	1.14	0.62													-1.00	0.45
	p(.) psi(N.2000 + W)	4	282.28	3.03	0.24									0.30	0.44			-0.98	0.45
	p(.) psi(.)	2	284.06	4.80	0.10														
	p(.) psi(N.2000)	3	285.56	6.31	0.05									0.36	0.41				
Fall	p(T) psi(U.2000)	4	147.75	0.00	0.41	0.99	0.35			1.96	1.10								
	p(T) psi(U.2000 + P.125)	5	150.22	2.47	0.12	0.99	0.35			1.90	1.28			0.05	0.62				
	p(T) psi(U.2000 + P.125 + UxP)	6	151.19	3.43	0.07	0.91	0.36			2.15	1.33			-0.20	0.59	1.89	1.70		
	p(T) psi(W)	4	151.31	3.56	0.07	1.00	0.36											-1.03	0.66
	p(T) psi(.)	3	152.18	4.42	0.04	1.07	0.38												
	p(T) psi(P.125 + W)	5	153.13	5.38	0.03	0.98	0.36							0.39	0.51			-0.90	0.64
	p(T) psi(P.125)	4	153.17	5.42	0.03	1.02	0.38							0.52	0.48				
	p(.) psi(.)	2	159.07	11.32	0.00														

Table F12: Occupancy model results for the western yellow bat in the winter, spring, summer and fall season.

Table F13: Occupancy model results for the Yuma myotis in the winter, spring, summer and fall season. Note that there were no model results for environmental or landscape variables of the Yuma myotis in the winter season because there were too few detections to reliably evaluate relationships.

									р										psi
							Т		M		U		UQ		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	∆AICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	sc
Winter	p(.) psi(.)	2	51.16	0.00	1.00														
Spring	p(T + M) psi(U.125)	5	161.86	0.00	0.44	-0.62	0.30	-0.82	0.26	-1.41	0.68								
	p(T + M) psi(U.125 + W)	6	163.28	1.41	0.22	-0.56	0.32	-0.77	0.27	-1.66	0.77							-0.68	0.60
	p(T + M) psi(U.125 + P.1000)	6	164.33	2.46	0.13	-0.60	0.31	-0.82	0.26	-1.37	0.69			0.14	0.40				
	p(T + M) psi(U.125 + P.1000 + W)	7	165.78	3.92	0.06	-0.52	0.33	-0.76	0.27	-1.61	0.77			0.19	0.41			-0.69	0.60
	p(T + M) psi(.)	4	166.26	4.39	0.05	-0.65	0.31	-0.74	0.28										
	p(T + M) psi(U.125 + P.1000 + UxP)	7	166.89	5.03	0.04	-0.60	0.31	-0.83	0.26	-1.38	0.68			0.08	0.44	-0.28	0.72		
	p(T + M) psi(P.1000)	5	168.05	6.18	0.02	-0.58	0.33	-0.73	0.28					0.31	0.37				
	p(T + M) psi(U.125 + P.1000 + UxP + W)	8	168.25	6.39	0.02	-0.51	0.33	-0.77	0.27	-1.66	0.78			0.09	0.45	-0.46	0.75	-0.77	0.63
	p(T + M) psi(W)	5	168.69	6.83	0.01	-0.64	0.32	-0.73	0.29									-0.12	0.56
	p(T + M) psi(P.1000 + W)	6	170.52	8.65	0.01	-0.56	0.34	-0.70	0.29					0.33	0.37			-0.19	0.53
	p(.) psi(.)	2	171.53	9.67	0.00														
Summe	r p(.) psi(P.2000)	3	173.89	0.00	0.39									1.60	0.62				
	p(.) psi(P.2000 + W)	4	174.66	0.78	0.27									1.50	0.63			-0.58	0.51
	p(.) psi(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + P.2000)	5	175.01	1.13	0.22					-0.11	0.46	-1.21	0.71	1.64	0.90				
	p(.) psi(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + P.2000 + W)	6	176.83	2.95	0.09					-0.52	0.64	-0.80	0.78	1.39	0.75			-0.72	0.89
	p(.) psi(U.2000 + UQ.2000 + W)	5	180.92	7.03	0.01					-0.81	0.57	-0.83	0.64					-1.25	0.88
	p(.) psi(U.2000 + UQ.2000)	4	181.42	7.53	0.01					-0.17	0.42	-1.36	0.57						
	p(.) psi(W)	3	183.21	9.32	0.00													-0.86	0.52
	p(.) psi(.)	2	185.11	11.22	0.00														
Fall	p(.) psi(U.250 + P.2000)	4	140.99	0.00	0.29					-1.06	0.60			0.78	0.47				
	p(.) psi(U.250)	3	141.72	0.73	0.20					-1.18	0.63								
	p(.) psi(U.250 + P.2000 + W)	5	143.00	2.01	0.11					-1.27	0.71			0.74	0.48			-0.35	0.52
	p(.) psi(P.2000)	3	143.03	2.04	0.10									0.81	0.44				
	p(.) psi(U.250 + W)	4	143.17	2.18	0.10					-1.42	0.72							-0.50	0.51
	p(.) psi(U.250 + P.2000 + UxP)	5	143.42	2.43	0.09					-1.09	0.62			0.88	0.68	0.20	0.96		
	p(.) psi(.)	2	144.87	3.87	0.04														
	p(.) psi(P.2000 + W)	4	145.32	4.32	0.03									0.83	0.44			0.13	0.46
	p(.) psi(U.250 + P.2000 + UxP + W)	6	145.54	4.54	0.03					-1.29	0.73			0.85	0.71	0.22	1.01	-0.35	0.52
	p(.) psi(W)	3	147.13	6.14	0.01													-0.01	0.48

							р								psi
							M		U		Р		UxP		W
Season	Model	Κ	AICc	ΔAICc	wt	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se	β	se
Spring	p(M) psi(P.2000)	4	92.11	0.00	0.35	1.28	0.46			1.73	0.74				
	p(M) psi(P.2000 + W)	5	93.53	1.42	0.17	1.33	0.46			1.78	0.78			-0.63	0.69
	p(M) psi(U.2000 + P.2000 + W)	6	93.56	1.45	0.17	1.29	0.45	-1.47	1.01	1.54	0.86			-1.83	1.32
	p(M) psi(U.2000 + P.2000)	5	94.41	2.30	0.11	1.26	0.47	-0.26	0.62	1.67	0.75				
	p(M) psi(U.2000 + P.2000 + UxP + W)	7	94.90	2.79	0.09	1.30	0.46	-1.90	1.23	1.25	0.94	-1.19	1.04	-2.18	1.41
	p(M) psi(U.2000 + W)	5	96.21	4.09	0.05	1.16	0.48	-1.92	0.90					-2.26	1.27
	p(M) psi(U.2000 + P.2000 + UxP)	6	96.42	4.31	0.04	1.24	0.48	-0.34	0.62	1.51	0.74	-0.53	0.62		
	p(M) psi(.)	3	100.19	8.07	0.01	1.10	0.50								
	p(M) psi(U.2000)	4	100.64	8.53	0.00	1.00	0.52	-0.61	0.47						
	p(M) psi(W)	4	101.15	9.04	0.00	1.20	0.49							-0.58	0.56
	p(.) psi(.)	2	103.06	10.95	0.00										
Summer	p(.) psi(.)	2	139.80	0.00	0.18										

Table F14: Occupancy model results for the 40 kHz Myotis spring and summer season.

#### APPENDIX G

# SUMMARY OF HOW DETECTION PROBABILITY AND OCCUPANCY VARIED IN RELATION TO ENVIRONMENTAL AND LANDSCAPE VARIABLES

Appendix G: Summary of how detection probability and occupancy based on the top model for 12 bat species varied with average minimum temperature (T), average lunar illumination (M), urbanization (U), plant productivity (P), and distance to water (W) in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona during four seasons in 2019. For each variable, we report the general relationship of the beta estimate (positive relationship = +; negative relationship = -; quadratic relationship = Q) and the most supported spatial scale (i.e., 125-2000 m radius buffers).

			р					psı
		Т	М		U		Р	W
Species	Season	Beta	Beta	Beta	Scale	Beta	Scale	Beta
Big brown bat	Spring		-	Q	125			
	Summer			+	125	+	125	
Big/pocketed free-	Winter		+	-	2000			+
tailed bat	Spring	-						+
	Summer	+						
	Fall							+
California myotis	Spring			Q	2000			
	Summer		-			+	1000	-
Canyon bat	Winter	+		-	1000	+	125	
	Spring	+	+	-	1000			
	Summer	-	+			+	2000	
	Fall			Q	125			
Hoary bat	Spring	-		-	125	+	125	+
Mexican free-	Winter	+	-					
tailed bat	Spring	-	-					
	Summer		-					
	Fall	+						
Pallid bat	Summer							
Silver-haired bat	Fall							
Western mastiff bat	Spring					+	2000	
	Fall							
Western red bat	Winter		+					
	Spring		+					
	Fall					+	125	
Western yellow bat	Winter	+						
	Spring	+	-			+	125	-
	Summer							-
	Fall	+		+	2000			
Yuma myotis	Spring	-	-	-	125			
	Summer					+	2000	
	Fall			-	250	+	2000	
40 kHz Myotis	Spring		+			+	2000	
	Summer							

## APPENDIX H

# PREDICTED OCCUPANCY ACROSS THE GRADIENT OF URBANIZATION

Appendix H: Predicted occupancy (with associated 95% confidence intervals) based on the top occupancy model across the gradient of urbanization for 7 bat species in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona during four seasons in 2019. Species include the big brown bat (Figure H1), the big/pocketed free-tailed bat (Figure H2), the California myotis (Figure H3), the canyon bat (Figure H4), the hoary bat (Figure H5), western yellow bat (Figure H6), and the Yuma myotis (Figure H7). Note that the y-axes are on different scales.



Figure H1: Predicted occupancy across the gradient of urbanization for the big brown bat (i.e., urbanization exploiter) in the summer season.



Figure H2: Predicted occupancy across the gradient of urbanization for the big/pocketed free-tailed bat (i.e., urbanization avoider) in the winter season.



Figure H3: Predicted occupancy across the gradient of urbanization for the California myotis (i.e., urbanization adapter) in the spring season.


Figure H4: Predicted occupancy across the gradient of urbanization for the canyon bat (i.e., urbanization avoider) in the (a) winter, (b) spring, and (b) fall season.



Figure H5: Predicted occupancy across the gradient of urbanization for the hoary bat (i.e., urbanization avoider) in the spring season.







Figure H7: Predicted occupancy across the gradient of urbanization for the Yuma myotis (i.e., urbanization avoider) in the (a) spring and (b) fall season.

### APPENDIX I

## OCCUPANCY PROBABILITY ACROSS URBAN INTENSITY CATEGORIES

Appendix I: Estimates of occupancy probability across three categories of urban intensity at a 1000 m scale (low (0-0.01), moderate (0.02-0.30), and high urban intensity (0.31-0.61)) for 12 bat species in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona during four seasons in 2019. Species include the big brown bat (Figure I1), the big/pocketed free-tailed bat (Figure I2), the California myotis (Figure I3), the canyon bat (Figure I4), the hoary bat (Figure I5), the pallid bat (Figure I6), the Townsend's big-eared bat (Figure I7), the western mastiff bat (Figure I8), the western red bat (Figure I9), the western yellow bat (Figure I10), the Yuma myotis (Figure I11) and the 40 kHz Myotis (Figure I12). The error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Note that the y-axes are on different scales.



Figure I1: Occupancy across urban intensity categories for the big brown bat in the (a) spring and (b) summer season.



Figure I2: Occupancy across urban intensity categories for the big/pocketed free-tailed bat in the (a) winter, (b) spring, and (b) fall season.





Figure I3: Occupancy across urban intensity categories for the California myotis in the (a) spring and (b) summer season.



Figure I4: Occupancy across urban intensity categories the canyon bat in the (a) winter, (b) spring, and (b) fall season.



Figure I5: Occupancy across urban intensity categories for the hoary bat in the spring season.



Figure I6: Occupancy across urban intensity categories for the pallid bat in the (a) spring and (b) summer season.



Figure I7: Occupancy across urban intensity categories for the Townsend's big-eared bat in the summer season.



Figure I8: Occupancy across urban intensity categories for the western mastiff bat in the spring season.



Figure I9: Occupancy across urban intensity categories for the western red bat in the (a) spring and (b) fall season.



Figure I10: Occupancy across urban intensity categories for the western yellow bat in the spring season.



Figure I11: Occupancy across urban intensity categories for the Yuma myotis in the (a) spring, (b) summer, and (b) fall season.



Figure I12: Occupancy across urban intensity categories for the 40 kHz Myotis in the (a) spring and (b) summer season.

144

#### APPENDIX J

# SPECIES RELATIONSHIPS WITH ENVIRONMENTAL AND LANDSCAPE VARIABLES ACROSS SEASONS BASED ON OCCUPANCY MODELS

Appendix J: Summary of how detection probability and occupancy (based on the top occupancy models) varied in relation to the variables average minimum temperature (Figure J1), average lunar illumination (Figure J2), plant productivity (Figure J3), and distance to water (Figure J4) among 14 species and four seasons in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona in 2019. The error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Note that the y-axes are on different scales.



Figure J1: Bat species' relationships with the detection probability variable "minimum temperature" in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer and (d) fall season.



Figure J2: Bat species' relationships with the detection probability variable "lunar illumination" in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer and (d) fall season.



Figure J3: Bat species' relationships with the occupancy probability variable "plant productivity" in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer and (d) fall season.



Figure J4: Bat species' relationships with the occupancy probability variable "distance to water" in the (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer and (d) fall season.

### APPENDIX K

### DORAZIO-ROYLE COMMUNITY MODEL RESULTS

Appendix K: Results from the top Dorazio-Royle (DR) model (p(T + M) psi(U.1000 +W)) for the bat community in the Phoenix metropolitan area, Arizona in the summer of 2019. Parameters include community-average beta estimates of detection probability variables average minimum temperature (mu.T) and average lunar illumination (mu.M), and community-average beta estimates of occupancy variables urbanization (mu.U) and distance to water (mu.W), total metacommunity size (Ntotal), species richness at each site (Nsite).

parameter	estimate	se	parameter	estimate	se
mu.T	0.16	0.22	Nsite[24]	5.77	1.17
mu.M	-0.19	0.23	Nsite[25]	6.15	1.01
mu.U	-1.35	0.65	Nsite[26]	7.47	1.00
mu.W	-0.90	0.36	Nsite[27]	4.92	1.19
Ntotal	16.40	1.29	Nsite[28]	6.53	1.03
Nsite[1]	9.63	0.98	Nsite[29]	4.45	1.04
Nsite[2]	4.55	1.23	Nsite[30]	7.08	0.88
Nsite[3]	3.50	1.17	Nsite[31]	5.45	0.65
Nsite[4]	5.47	1.49	Nsite[32]	4.12	0.91
Nsite[5]	8.13	1.12	Nsite[33]	5.61	0.73
Nsite[6]	6.25	1.49	Nsite[34]	3.96	0.91
Nsite[7]	7.80	1.24	Nsite[35]	5.58	0.72
Nsite[8]	6.09	1.20	Nsite[36]	4.72	0.81
Nsite[9]	6.71	1.41	Nsite[37]	4.71	0.77
Nsite[10]	3.70	1.34	Nsite[38]	4.80	0.80
Nsite[11]	5.80	0.87	Nsite[39]	7.01	0.82
Nsite[12]	7.91	1.27	Nsite[40]	5.06	0.89
Nsite[13]	4.95	1.29	Nsite[41]	5.54	0.71
Nsite[14]	6.46	1.26	Nsite[42]	6.43	0.63
Nsite[15]	9.97	0.98	Nsite[43]	4.27	0.72
Nsite[16]	6.25	1.21	Nsite[44]	4.73	0.82
Nsite[17]	4.63	1.40	Nsite[45]	4.44	0.76
Nsite[18]	13.10	0.61	Nsite[46]	3.63	0.76
Nsite[19]	5.41	1.32	Nsite[47]	3.68	0.78
Nsite[20]	5.72	1.09	Nsite[48]	4.64	0.77
Nsite[21]	8.61	1.11	Nsite[49]	3.67	0.78
Nsite[22]	3.60	0.90	Nsite[50]	3.39	0.62
Nsite[23]	8.79	0.82			